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CASE NO. C-24-381730-A

IN THE JUSTICE COURT OF LAS VEGAS TOWNSHIP

COUNTY OF CLARK, STATE OF NEVADA
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LAS VEGAS, CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA,1
MARCH 19, 2024 AT 9:30 A.M.2

P R O C E E D I N G S3
4
5

THE COURT:  Jose Decastro, 23CR013015.6
MS. BOTELHO:  Good morning, Your Honor.7

Agnes Botelho and Blake McKay for the record for the8
State.9

THE COURT:  Good morning.10
MR. MEE:  Good morning.  Michael Mee on11

behalf of the Defendant who is present with me this12
morning.13

THE COURT:  So I have signed two media14
requests that permit recording or photographing these15
proceedings.  I have not granted any other request to16
record or live stream these proceedings.  So I need Mr.17
Decastro and everybody else who wants to stay in the18
courtroom to surrender their phones or you can leave.  I19
need Mr. Decastro to empty all of his pockets.20

THE DEFENDANT:  What's that?21
THE COURT:  Empty your pockets.22
THE MARSHALL:  Empty your pockets and give23

up your phones.24
THE DEFENDANT:  I have to give you my25

4
phones?1

THE COURT:  Yep.2
THE DEFENDANT:  My phones have to be3

completely off?4
THE COURT:  Yep.  I don't really want to be5

part of your You Tube channel.6
THE DEFENDANT:  You already are.7
THE COURT:  Great.8
THE DEFENDANT:  You already are.9
THE COURT:  Awesome.10
THE DEFENDANT:  I'm not going to give them11

to this guy though.12
THE COURT:  No.  They're going to go to my13

marshall.14
THE DEFENDANT:  He's a pig.15
THE COURT:  Excuse me?16
THE DEFENDANT:  I said he's a pig.17
THE COURT:  Okay.  Sir, I'm not going to18

permit you to speak to anybody in my courtroom in that19
manner.  If you don't want to apologize, I'm going to20
hold you in contempt.21

THE DEFENDANT:  I apologize to the Court,22
Your Honor.23

THE COURT:  No.  You can apologize --24
they've done nothing to you.25

Case Number: C-24-381730-A

Electronically Filed
4/22/2024 2:59 PM
Steven D. Grierson
CLERK OF THE COURT
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THE DEFENDANT:  Actually Your Honor, when1
you weren't here he came over and gave me a directive2
for no reason and start telling me what to do.3

THE COURT:  Okay.4
THE DEFENDANT:  I have all the respect in5

the world for the Court.  I follow the rule of law all6
the time.7

THE COURT:  No.  It is their job to maintain8
the safety and security of the courtroom.9

THE DEFENDANT:  I agree with you, Your10
Honor.11

THE COURT:  So if you want to speak like12
that in my courtroom, I'm going to hold you in contempt.13
If I hold you in contempt, you're going to jail.  That14
is not my wish.  Okay?15

THE DEFENDANT:  Not my wish either.16
THE COURT:  So I need you to empty your17

pockets too.  Suit pocket.  Pants pocket.18
THE DEFENDANT:  This is illegal.  This is a19

violation of my Fourth Amendment.20
THE COURT:  No, it isn't.21
THE DEFENDANT:  Yes, it is.  I don't have22

any recording devices on me.  What are you talking23
about?24

THE COURT:  What about your suit jacket?25
6

THE DEFENDANT:  I don't have anything on me.1
This is preposterous.2

THE COURT:  No, it's not.3
THE DEFENDANT:  It really is.4
THE COURT:  No, it's not.5
THE DEFENDANT:  Yes, it is.6
THE COURT:  Mr. Mee, your phone too.  Off.7
THE DEFENDANT:  They are recording8

everything.9
THE COURT:  They have a media request.10
THE DEFENDANT:  Your guy took my phone.  His11

phone is not on.  You're going to take the lawyer's12
phone too?13

THE COURT:  No, I'm not going to take your14
lawyer's phone.  He's an officer of the court.  All15
right.  Do we have everybody's phones?  Are they off?16
All right.  Good.17

This is the time set for the trial of State18
of Nevada versus Jose Decastro, 23CR013105.  Is the19
State ready to proceed?20

MS. BOTELHO:  Yes we are, Your Honor.21
THE COURT:  How many witnesses do you have?22
MS. BOTELHO:  We anticipate one.23
THE COURT:  Is the Defense ready to proceed?24
MR. MEE:  Yes, Your Honor.25

7

THE COURT:  I have your request to convert1
counsel to standby counsel.  I am going deny that2
request.  Either you represent him or he should have3
previously should have requested a Faretta canvas to4
represent himself.  That I just consider that a delay5
tactic so that request is denied.  Are you ready to6
proceed otherwise, I am assuming you are?7

MR. MEE:  Yes, Your Honor.8
THE COURT:  State please call their first9

witness.10
MS. BOTELHO:  The State calls Branden11

Borque.12
THE COURT:  Good morning.13
THE MARSHALL:  Please remain standing and14

raise your right hand to be sworn by the clerk.15
THE CLERK:  Do you solemnly swear to tell16

the truth, the whole truth, and nothing but the truth?17
THE WITNESS:  I do.18
THE CLERK:  Please be seated.  State your19

name for the record and spell it first and last name20
please.21

THE WITNESS:  It's Branden Borque.  Branden22
is B-R-A-N-D-E-N.  Bourque, B-O-U-R-Q-U-E.23

THE COURT:  Please go ahead.24
MS. BOTELHO:  Thank you.25

8

DIRECT EXAMINATION1
BY MS. BOTELHO:2

Sir, good morning.3 Q.
Good morning, ma'am.4 A.
Sir, how are you employed?5 Q.
I'm a police officer with the Las Vegas6 A.

Metropolitan Police Department.7
How long have you been employed with Metro?8 Q.
Just over eight years.9 A.
What is your like -- what's your occupation there10 Q.

like where are you assigned?11
I'm currently a field training officer at12 A.

Summerlin Area Command.13
Are you a patrol officer?14 Q.
Yes, ma'am.15 A.
That also trains newer officers?16 Q.
Yes.17 A.
Were you employed with Metro, I'm assuming you18 Q.

are because you've been employed for eight years, back19
on March 15th of 2023?20

Yes, I was.21 A.
Were you a patrol officer at that time?22 Q.
Yes, I was.23 A.
As a patrol do you wear a uniform?24 Q.
Yes, I do.25 A.0023
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Can you describe the uniform.1 Q.

It would be the same uniform I'm wearing today.2 A.

For the record you are wearing a tan uniform with3 Q.

the logos Las Vegas Metropolitan Police Department4
located throughout your shirt?5

Yes.6 A.

As a patrol officer do you have access to or7 Q.

utilize a marked patrol vehicle?8
Yes.9 A.

Can you describe what this marked patrol vehicle10 Q.

looks like?11
It's black and white in color and it was LVMPD's12 A.

logo on all sides.13
Is it also equipped with lights and sirens?14 Q.

Yes.15 A.

So you were employed as a patrol officer back on16 Q.

March 15th of 2023?17
Yes.18 A.

At some point in time did you conduct a traffic19 Q.

stop while you were working in that capacity?20
Yes, I did.21 A.

On that date?22 Q.

Yes.23 A.

And was that for a vehicle bearing license plate24 Q.

748 Z, like zebra, T like Tom, B like boy?25
10

Yes.1 A.

And what -- why did you stop that vehicle?2 Q.

I had conducted a DMV records check on that3 A.

license plate and it came back expired and suspended.4
Where is it that you stopped this vehicle?5 Q.

It was 4155 South Grand Canyon which was near6 A.

Target.7
Is that over on Flamingo and Grand Canyon?8 Q.

Yes.9 A.

And that's here in Las Vegas, Clark County,10 Q.

Nevada, sir?11
Yes.12 A.

And you indicated it was for a license plate that13 Q.

was expired and suspended?14
Yes.15 A.

When you initiated the traffic stop what did you16 Q.

do or how did you do that?17
I approached the driver.  Let her know the reason18 A.

for the stop and obtained her identifying information,19
registration and insurance.20

Okay.  I forgot to ask you earlier pursuant to21 Q.

your uniform and as a patrol officer are you equipped22
with a body worn camera?23

Yes, I am.24 A.

And do you also have a radio?25 Q.

11

Yes, I do.1 A.

Are those items both the body worn camera and the2 Q.

radio on your uniform today?3
Yes, they are.4 A.

Is that how the body worn camera and/or the radio5 Q.

were on your uniform back on March 15th of 2023?6
Yes.7 A.

To your knowledge was your body worn camera8 Q.

functioning at that time?9
Yes, it was functioning.10 A.

And so you made contact with the driver of that11 Q.

Hyundai?12
Yes, I did.13 A.

How would you characterize the nature of your14 Q.

encounter or the -- yeah, the nature of your encounter15
with that driver?16

She was cooperative with me.  I explained the17 A.

reason for the stop.  She seemed confused.  Not sure18
exactly it had how become suspended but she was friendly19
and cooperative.20

Okay.  And she identified herself?21 Q.

She did.  She had a picture of her license on her22 A.

phone.23
Okay.  At some point, sir, did you go back to24 Q.

your patrol vehicle to further your investigation?25
12

I did.1 A.

As you were -- let me ask you this:  When you2 Q.

effectuated the traffic stop on this vehicle where did3
you park or stop your vehicle in relation to the Hyundai4
that you had stopped?5

I parked approximately ten, fifteen feet behind6 A.

the stopped vehicle.  We ended up in the parking lot.7
Okay.  Was the driver the sole occupant of the8 Q.

vehicle?9
Yes.10 A.

And so when you returned to your patrol vehicle11 Q.

to conduct your further investigation was the driver12
within eyesight?13

Yes, she was.14 A.

Is it your habit and custom and also your15 Q.

training to keep an individual that you are dealing with16
within eyesight?17

Yes.18 A.

And so at some point while you were still in your19 Q.

vehicle, your patrol vehicle, did something occur that's20
causing you to have to testify before Judge Zimmerman21
today?22

Yes.  I had an unrelated person come over and23 A.

start recording the traffic stop.24
Okay.  And we talked about body worn camera25 Q.0024
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previously but did you activate your body worn camera1
prior to the traffic stop?2

Yes, I did.3 A.

Just before you initiated the traffic stop?4 Q.

I initiated the stop and then I immediately5 A.

activated the camera.6
Okay.  And how is it that body worn camera is7 Q.

activated on your uniform, sir?8
I have a battery pack that's on my belt in front9 A.

and I press the activation button which is in front.10
Okay.  So it is just a tap of that activation11 Q.

button?12
It's a double tap on front, yes.13 A.

Okay.  And how is it that you would stop14 Q.

recording?15
I would hold down that same power button.16 A.

Okay.17 Q.

Or it can be turned off there's a toggle switch18 A.

on the top.  It slides on and off.19
Okay.  Your body worn camera was running as of,20 Q.

you know, the stop the traffic stop?21
Yes.22 A.

Okay.  And so you described an unrelated23 Q.

individual coming over to your stop?24
Yes.25 A.

14

Can you describe this individual?1 Q.

He was a white male adult.  He was wearing a2 A.

bright colored hoodie and blue jeans.3
Okay.  That individual do you see him here in4 Q.

court today?5
Yes.6 A.

Could you please point to him and describe7 Q.

something he's wearing.8
He's wearing a suit and blue tie.9 A.

MS. BOTELHO:  Your Honor, please let the10
record reflect identification of the Defendant.11

THE COURT:  So ordered.12
BY MS. BOTELHO:13

And so what do you do upon seeing this individual14 Q.

approach the driver of the vehicle you had stopped?15
Initially when I saw him he was just recording, I16 A.

ignored him and continued my records check.  Then when17
he came over to the driver and started speaking with18
them I got out of the car, approached the driver, and19
told Decastro to back up.20

When you first noticed -- you identified the21 Q.

unknown or unrelated related male subsequently; correct?22
Yes.23 A.

What was his name?24 Q.

Jose Decastro.25 A.

15

And that's the individual you identified here in1 Q.

court?2
Yes.3 A.

When you first laid eyes on the Defendant4 Q.

approximately how far away was he from the driver of the5
vehicle in the Hyundai?6

Approximately somewhere within five to ten feet.7 A.

Okay.  And you indicated that he was recording?8 Q.

Yes.9 A.

What did you see that lead you to believe he was10 Q.

recording?11
He had his cellphone camera pointed directly at12 A.

me.13
So is that when upon seeing him being that close14 Q.

to the driver is that when you told him -- you walked up15
to the driver of the stopped vehicle and asked16
Mr. Decastro to back up?17

Yes.  Once he started talking to the driver.18 A.

Okay.  And why is it that you did that, Officer?19 Q.

Well, I can't have unrelated people next to my20 A.

traffic stops.  I don't know if he's a dangerous person,21
armed.  He could be the boyfriend of the stopped person.22
It's for my safety and the safety of the person I23
stopped.24

Because you're also in charge of the safety of25 Q.

16

the individual that this unrelated individual's making1
contact with; is that fair to say?2

Yes.3 A.

And you saw it as an officer's safety issue as4 Q.

well as a safety issue for the driver?5
Yes.6 A.

And so when you approached -- you said he was7 Q.

recording, the Defendant was recording, at any time did8
you tell him to stop recording?9

No.  In fact I told him he could continue10 A.

recording.11
He can continue to record given what?12 Q.

I said as long as he backed up and gave me the13 A.

appropriate distance to work.14
When you asked the Defendant to back up did he15 Q.

follow your order?16
No, he did not.17 A.

So what did you do next?18 Q.

I gave him three additional warnings to back up.19 A.

Okay.  Did he obey those orders?20 Q.

No, he did not.21 A.

What, if anything, did you do with the driver of22 Q.

the stopped vehicle the Hyundai?23
At that point I chose to release the driver of24 A.

the Hyundai and then focus my attention on Jose250025
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Decastro.1
Okay.  For the record, Officer, at that point in2 Q.

time were you the only uniformed officer, the only3
officer present at the scene?4

Yes, ma'am.5 A.

So at this point you were dealing with a stopped6 Q.

driver as well as an unrelated individual and having to7
make contact -- or maintain visual of both?8

Yes.9 A.

And at that point the Defendant was not being10 Q.

cooperative?11
Correct, yes.12 A.

Okay.  So you release the driver of the Hyundai.13 Q.

What do you tell that person to let her go?14
I just said that she was free to go.15 A.

And subsequently did you turn your attention on16 Q.

the Defendant?17
Yes.18 A.

Can you tell Judge Zimmerman the nature of your19 Q.

interactions with Defendant after that.20
I ordered Decastro to the front of my patrol21 A.

vehicle pointing at it and told him he was detained.22
What was the purpose of detaining him?23 Q.

For obstructing my initial traffic stop with the24 A.

Hyundai.25
18

And did he obey your lawful order?1 Q.

No, he did not.2 A.

And what happened next?3 Q.

He continued filming me.  I continued pointing4 A.

toward my patrol vehicle.  Continued telling him he was5
detained.  All the while he just continued shifting his6
body around recording me on the phone and refused to go7
to the car.8

Okay.  What did you do in response?9 Q.

I use my hand to escort him to the patrol10 A.

vehicle.  So I placed my hand on his shoulder and at11
that point he swatted my hand away.12

What happened next?13 Q.

That's when I grabbed him by the shirt and I spun14 A.

him around and we ended up at the front of my patrol15
vehicle.  Both still standing.16

At some point did you request additional units to17 Q.

respond to the scene?18
I did.  That was before I grabbed him.19 A.

Okay.20 Q.

When I initially detained him.21 A.

Once you had him at your patrol vehicle the front22 Q.

the hood of your patrol vehicle what happened next?23
Officer Dingle another officer in the area that24 A.

arrived.  He came over to help me handcuff him.25

19

And were you successful or did the Defendant1 Q.

cooperate in being handcuffed?2
He did not cooperate.  I told him seven times to3 A.

face my patrol vehicle.  He did not listen.  I told him4
six times to turn around.  He did not listen.  It wasn't5
until I told him that he was going to do to jail that6
was the consequence of not listening that allowed us to7
handcuff him.8

After he was handcuffed -- when he was handcuffed9 Q.

was it just you and Officer Dingle present?10
Yes.11 A.

Once he was handcuffed what, if anything,12 Q.

happened next?13
He continued to argue with my partners Officer14 A.

Dingle and other officers that were starting to show up.15
Then I focussed my role in completing the report and16
calling the sergeant because he requested a supervisor.17

Okay.  At some point was he arrested for a count18 Q.

of obstructing a public officer?19
Yes.20 A.

And also for resisting a public officer or21 Q.

resisting arrest?22
Yes.23 A.

At any point in time during your interaction with24 Q.

him or your continued visual interaction with other25
20

officers did he cooperate with any of the officers1
present at the scene?2

No.  He kept shifting around and normally we have3 A.

people stand still in front of our car.  I did hear him4
arguing with the other officers.5

You indicated you had your body worn camera6 Q.

turned on at this time?7
Yes.8 A.

Did you have an opportunity to look at your body9 Q.

worn camera prior to court today?10
Yes, I did.11 A.

MS. BOTELHO:  We are going to be screen12
sharing through Zoom.13
BY MS. BOTELHO:14

Officer, are you able to see?  There's not a15 Q.

screen over there so I might have to bring mine over to16
you with the Court's permission.17

THE COURT:  Okay.18
BY MS. BOTELHO:19

Okay.  Officer, I'm showing you my computer20 Q.

screen.  Is it fair to say that what's being shared on21
screen as well as what's showing up on my computer22
screen is are two files, one labelled 416B.MP4.  The23
other one labelled 468#1.MP4?24

Yes.25 A.0026
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MS. BOTELHO:  For the record, Your Honor,1
all body worn camera footage have been disclosed to the2
Defense well in advance of today's trial.3
BY MS. BOTELHO:4

I am going to show you a brief snippet of the one5 Q.
labelled 468_#1.MP4.  Do you recognize what's depicted6
here?7

Yes.  This is the initial Hyundai that I had8 A.
stopped.9

Okay.  Do you recognize this particular file as10 Q.
the body worn camera of your interaction first with the11
Hyundai and then with the Defendant on March 15th of12
2023?13

Yes.14 A.
And does this show the time that you activated15 Q.

your camera?16
Yes.17 A.
Similar to what you testified to earlier?18 Q.
Yes.19 A.
You've had an opportunity to see this entire20 Q.

twelve and a half minute long video; is that right?21
Yes.22 A.
Does it fairly and accurately depict the traffic23 Q.

stop and also your interaction with the Defendant on the24
date and time we've been discussing?25

22

Yes.1 A.
At the location we've been discussing?2 Q.
Yes.3 A.

MS. BOTELHO:  Your Honor, I'd move to admit4
and subsequently publish 468_#1.MP4.5

THE COURT:  Defense?6
MR. MEE:  No objection.7
THE COURT:  It will be admitted and8

published.9
MS. BOTELHO:  Thank you.10
     (Playing video.)11

BY MS. BOTELHO:12
I'm pausing at timestamp nine minutes and sixteen13 Q.

seconds.  At this point, Officer, do you see the14
unrelated male that you've been talking about enter15
camera view?16

Yes, I do.17 A.
Could you point to where he is in the video on my18 Q.

screen.19
Yes.  Right here.20 A.

MS. BOTELHO:  Let the record reflect he21
identified a male wearing a light-colored blue jacket22
towards the middle of the screen.23
BY MS. BOTELHO:24

And is this the individual that you've been25 Q.

23

talking about the Defendant here today?1
Yes.2 A.
I'll continue.  Officer, at 1138 or a little bit3 Q.

before another officer comes on screen.  Who is that?4
Officer Dingle.5 A.
Okay.6 Q.
         (Playing video.)7

MS. BOTELHO:  That concludes the twelve8
minute twenty-one second video marked 468_#1.MP4.9
BY MS. BOTELHO:10

Officer, at some point after this interaction11 Q.
that we just saw did you come to realize that your body12
worn camera had accidently or inadvertently turned off?13

Yes.14 A.
At what point in time did it turn off?15 Q.
It would have turned off at the completion of the16 A.

video that we just saw prior to --17
Prior to what?18 Q.
Prior to the handcuffing.19 A.
Okay.  Did you at some -- we noticed that Officer20 Q.

Dingle showed up to the scene though?21
Yes.22 A.
Okay.  And do you know whether he had has body23 Q.

worn camera turned on?24
Yes.  It was activated.25 A.
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Okay.  So what was -- what would have been missed1 Q.
by the inadvertent turning off of your body worn camera2
would have been captured on Officer Dingle's body worn3
camera?4

Yes.5 A.
Okay.  Did I allow you to look at that video6 Q.

footage from Officer Dingle this morning prior to7
testifying here today?8

Yes, you did.9 A.
Did you have an opportunity to look at it to10 Q.

determine whether it was in fact the video related to11
this event?12

Yes.  I looked at it and it was the video13 A.
related.14

So I'm turn your attention now to the video15 Q.
labelled 416B.MP4. I'm just going to --16

THE COURT:  Is it says 4168.17
MS. BOTELHO:  I think it's 416B.MP4.18
THE COURT:  Okay.19
MS. BOTELHO:  Or 8.20
THE COURT:  Okay.21

BY MS. BOTELHO:22
And I just played the first thirteen seconds but23 Q.

actually I am going to fast forward.  For the record the24
video is upside down, it recorded upside down?250027
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Yes, it did.1 A.

THE COURT:  Why would it record upside down?2
THE WITNESS:  Ma'am, there's a setting in3

the application where you can rotate it and this officer4
may not have checked that beforehand.5
BY MS. BOTELHO:6

Stopping or starting at 454 timestamp on the7 Q.

video that we've been talking about, do you recognize8
what's depicted at least in this still portion?9

Yes.  This is me and Decastro in front of my10 A.

patrol vehicle.11
So to your knowledge after having watched this12 Q.

does this fairly and accurately depict your interaction13
with the Defendant on March 15th of 2023 as caught on14
camera by Officer Dingle's body worn camera?15

Yes.16 A.

MS. BOTELHO:  Move to admit 416B or 8.17
THE COURT:  Defense?18
MR. MEE:  No objection.19
THE COURT:  Do you know if it's a B or 8 for20

sure?21
MR. MEE:  It looks like a B to me, Your22

Honor.23
MS. BOTELHO:  Thank you.24
THE COURT:  Two out of three, I lose.  All25
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right.  416B.MP4 will be admitted and published.1
MS. BOTELHO:  I'm going start at 454.  May I2

approach, Your Honor?3
THE DEFENDANT:  Can we move the water bottle4

so we can see it too?5
THE COURT:  Of course.6
MS. BOTELHO:  You can come up.7
(Playing video.)8
THE DEFENDANT:  Can you tilt it?  I can't9

see.10
(Playing video.)11
MS. BOTELHO:  I'm to going stop it at 1135.12

BY MS. BOTELHO:13
Officer, did the body worn camera portions that14 Q.

we played or that I played fairly and accurately depict15
your interaction with the Defendant on March 15th of16
2023?17

Yes, it did.18 A.

Concerning -- I just want to talk a little bit19 Q.

about what was depicted in the video.  In the video from20
your body worn camera it shows, you know, the state of21
your stop with the Hyundai driver.  Do you recall that?22

Yes.23 A.

At some point prior to you making contact with24 Q.

the Defendant you noticed him kind of recording further25

27

away from the vehicle; correct?1
Yes.2 A.

At that point in time you didn't have a problem3 Q.

with that you didn't really approach the Defendant yet;4
correct?5

Correct.6 A.

It was when he started making contact with the7 Q.

driver, your stopped driver, that you approached him and8
asked him to back up?9

Yes.10 A.

And at some point time in the video it's recorded11 Q.

you told him that he is allowed to record but he just12
needed to back up?13

Yes.14 A.

Okay.  And what was the reason for you trying to15 Q.

maintain one, the lack no contact with the stopped16
person and two, trying to gain distance between the17
Defendant, yourself, and the stopped driver?18

My first intention is I wasn't trying to delay my19 A.

traffic stop any longer than it had to be.  I was trying20
to make it as short as possible for the driver.  The21
second was for officer safety.  What we're taught in the22
academy is that for a normal humans reaction time with23
open ground anything within twenty-one feet that suspect24
would be able to charge an officer without them being25
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able to react in time.1
And that point in time you were the only officer2 Q.

present; correct?3
Yes.4 A.

Okay.  And when he began -- when the Defendant5 Q.

failed to obey your command to back up that's when you6
decide to engage him?7

Yes.8 A.

MS. BOTELHO:  Court's indulgence.  I have no9
more questions for this witness.  Thank you.10

THE COURT:  Defense?11
12

     CROSS-EXAMINATION13
BY MR. MEE:14

Good morning, Officer.  How are you today?15 Q.

Good morning, sir.  I'm well.  How are you?16 A.

Very well.  How many feet did you order the17 Q.

Defendant to back up specifically?18
I never had an opportunity to give him an exact19 A.

distance.20
How far back did you intend to have him back up21 Q.

if you had expressed that?22
In the background of the video you can see there23 A.

was a parked semi-truck and light pole I would have24
directed him somewhere in that area which would have250028
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been outside the twenty-one feet.1
Your testimony is you never told him an exact2 Q.

distance to back up; correct?3
Yes.  He never allowed me to.4 A.

What do you mean never allowed you to?5 Q.

I asked him to back up and he continued to argue6 A.

with me so I can never specify the exact distance for7
him.8

But you had time to give him five commands to9 Q.

back up; is that correct?10
Yes.11 A.

Your testimony is he never backed up when you12 Q.

were giving him commands; is that correct?13
If he backed up, it may have been inches but he14 A.

didn't substantially back up.15
You just reviewed the body worn camera from your16 Q.

chest; is that correct?17
Yes.18 A.

You didn't notice him backing up every time you19 Q.

directed him to back up?20
He did not back up.21 A.

So he backed up zero feet in your opinion?22 Q.

Not zero feet.23 A.

What was that?24 Q.

He didn't back up zero feet.  He was moving his25 A.
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feet.  As to exactly how far he moved back I don't know1
but it wasn't substantial.2

What would have been substantial in your opinion?3 Q.

What do you mean by that?4
I would have guided him, if he wasn't arguing5 A.

with me, back towards the light pole and the parked6
semi-truck which would have outside of twenty-one feet.7
That was my goal.8

So in your opinion you have the ability or you9 Q.

would at any traffic stop ask somebody to move back10
twenty-one feet; is that correct?11

Yes, per our training.12 A.

And what was that training?13 Q.

That while we're conducting lawful activity we14 A.

are allowed a reasonable distance to conduct our15
activity.16

Where did you get that twenty-one feet number17 Q.

from specifically?18
That's taught to us in the academy.  It's based19 A.

on reaction -- normal human reaction time to a threat.20
So your is position anytime you're engaging in21 Q.

law enforcement activity you would create a22
twenty-one feet perimeter?23

Not necessarily.  It depends on other24 A.

environmental factors such as obstacles and barriers.25
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So your testimony is that every time you conduct1 Q.

a traffic stop as long as there's no barriers you would2
order a pedestrian to back up to twenty-one feet; is3
that correct?4

I would, yes.5 A.

What training do you have in regards to the First6 Q.

Amendment?7
Standard academy training.8 A.

Can you explain what that entails.9 Q.

Usually includes a classroom setting power point10 A.

taught by the police officer academy officer.11
Do you remember receiving that training12 Q.

specifically?13
Yes.14 A.

How long ago was that?15 Q.

When I was first employed about eight years ago.16 A.

Did you have any follow-up training?17 Q.

Specifically on First Amendment we've had some18 A.

follow-up training regarding First Amendment auditors.19
Okay.  Can you explain what that follow-up20 Q.

training was.21
The follow-up training was to -- just a refresher22 A.

on the First Amendment and how the department wants to23
handle or react to First Amendment auditors.24

In that training did they explain any case law25 Q.
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governing how many feet somebody has to move back or1
anything like that?2

MS. BOTELHO:  Objection, Your Honor.  At3
this point relevance.  I think it is beyond the scope4
of, you know, the charges you are to determine guilt at5
this time.6

THE COURT:  Can you tell me what's the7
relevance?8

MR. MEE:  Yes, Your Honor.  He detained the9
Defendant after issuing commands to back up a particular10
distance.  He's testified he received training.  I11
should be entitled to cross-examine him about what that12
training is and how he's coming up with the specific13
numbers he used.14

THE COURT:  I think her objection was with15
respect to the case law that you're inquiring about.16

MR. MEE:  Your Honor, our position is that17
he is issuing commands that are contrary to case law and18
he has been trained on that case law but there can't be19
an obstruction of justice.20

THE COURT:  So I'm going to sustain the21
objection and ask that you move along.22
BY MR. MEE:23

Have you had any prior issues enforcing the First24 Q.

Amendment?250029
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No.1 A.

Prior to this event taking place had you heard of2 Q.

Jose Decastro?3
No.4 A.

Do you recall when you first heard about First5 Q.

Amendment auditors specifically?6
It would have been in the academy.7 A.

When you were first trained you had heard about8 Q.

the auditors back then?9
Yes.  When we were learning about the First10 A.

Amendment they would typically bring up issues that11
might be a frequently seen thing and the First Amendment12
auditors are typically the ones that we encounter when13
first when First Amendment claims against us.14

Do you have any belief that First Amendment15 Q.

auditors are likely to be violent?16
MS. BOTELHO:  Objection.  Relevance.17
THE COURT:  What's the relevance?  I am only18

concerned with Mr. Decastro.19
MR. MEE:  Your Honor, one of the legal20

issues at question here is whether or not these commands21
are reasonable.  I think that has to be based on his22
past experiences in training.23

THE COURT:  Sustained.24
/ / /25
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BY MR. MEE:1
During this traffic stop in particular what2 Q.

specific factors lead you to believe there might be a3
danger to officer safety?4

Based on his proximity to my driver.  Based on5 A.

his demeanor being argumentative.  Based on his physical6
demeanor.  His veins were popping out of his neck as he7
was yelling at me.8

You can see his veins popping out of his neck9 Q.

from back where your vehicle is?10
When I was at the driver's side window I could11 A.

see that but not at my car.12
When you see him walking up from your car what is13 Q.

your specific concern regarding officer safety at that14
point in time?15

It's my safety and the safety of the driver.  I16 A.

don't know who this person is.  I've never met him17
before.  He can be peaceful.  He can be violent.  I just18
don't know.  There's so many unknown factors and I also19
have a responsibility to protect that driver.  If I were20
in that driver's position, I wouldn't want to be21
approached by some random person recording me and22
interviewing me.23

Did you ever ask the driver of their opinion24 Q.

about whether they wanted him there or not?25
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No.1 A.

MS. BOTELHO:  Objection.  Relevance.2
THE COURT:  Sustained.3

BY MR. MEE:4
Was your primary concern he was speaking to the5 Q.

driver or him not backing up?6
My primary concern was safety.  I don't know if7 A.

he was armed or what his intention was.8
Do you presume someone is armed and dangerous9 Q.

just because they're in public?10
I can't rule out that he's unarmed.11 A.

But you had no reason to believe he was armed on12 Q.

this particular occasion?13
No.  Nobody had told me he was armed and I didn't14 A.

see any weapons visible but he was wearing clothing that15
could have easily concealed weapons.16

When he first came upon the scene you were in17 Q.

your vehicle typing on your computer; is that correct?18
Yes.19 A.

What were you doing in relation to that traffic20 Q.

stop?21
Conducting a background to see if her license was22 A.

valid, to see if she had any criminal history to help23
make a decision whether to warn her or issue a citation.24

You stated your belief was that the driver was25 Q.

36

entitled to privacy?1
I did say that.2 A.

What did you mean by that?3 Q.

Instead of continuing to give him commands to4 A.

back up, I said something different to try and help him5
understand.  She's really not entitled to privacy but6
she's entitled to safety.7

So your explanation is that you said that because8 Q.

you were trying to convince him to back up not because9
you believed it?10

Yes.  If I continued to give the command to back11 A.

up and he's not listening, I can't expect something12
different to happen if I just keep saying back up.13

In your police report do you recall referencing14 Q.

the fact that he had due notice in your opinion of what15
you were commanding him to do?16

Yes.  When I gave him four commands to back up17 A.

that was due notice.18
You'll agree with me that he did not have notice19 Q.

as to the distance you wanted to him to back up; is that20
correct?21

That's correct.22 A.

Approximately how long were you issuing these23 Q.

commands before you decide to detain him?24
Approximately fifteen, twenty seconds.25 A.0030
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And your testimony is you didn't have any time1 Q.

during that back and forth to tell him a specific2
distance to back up?3

Not time but no opportunity.4 A.

How so?5 Q.

Well, every time I tried to speak with him he6 A.

would argue.  He wasn't listening at all.  So if he's7
not understanding back up, how would you explain8
something that was more complex?9

What was preventing you from saying back up to a10 Q.

particular location?11
First I would want him to back up and if he12 A.

didn't back up far enough, I would give him an exact13
location.14

Okay.  But you never did; correct?15 Q.

No.  I never did.16 A.

Did the Defendant's verbal comments towards you17 Q.

influence what you decided to do that day?18
No.19 A.

On the video did you see that point in time when20 Q.

you decided to detain him was specifically after he made21
an insulting comment towards you?22

That wasn't why I choose to detain him.  I23 A.

realized that he wasn't going to back up at that time.24
His comments didn't make you angry at him?25 Q.
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No.1 A.

In your review of the video just now he had both2 Q.

hands in front of him the entire time; is that correct?3
No.  At one point he reaches towards his back4 A.

pocket to pull out his second phone.5
Did you quickly see that it was a second phone he6 Q.

was going for?7
Yes.8 A.

Once you see him produce a second phone in his9 Q.

hands he's obviously not reaching for weapon; is that10
correct?11

At that time, no, he wasn't.12 A.

What time of day did this occur at?13 Q.

If I remember correctly 4:30 in the afternoon.14 A.

This was in a broad public place?15 Q.

Yes.16 A.

Does the fact that this occurred in broad17 Q.

daylight in a public influence your decision making as18
far as issuing commands to the Defendant?19

It could.  In this particular case it didn't.20 A.

Why is that?21 Q.

There was nobody around us other than me and the22 A.

driver and Decastro.23
You testified he swatted your hand away; is that24 Q.

your testimony today?25
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Yes, that's the best way I can describe.1 A.

You saw his arm do this or you just felt it?2 Q.

I saw it and felt it.3 A.

Do you recall in your police report stating that4 Q.

you did not believe his intent was to harm you?5
Yes.  I wrote that.6 A.

What is your basis for reaching that conclusion?7 Q.

He could have been charged for a battery on a8 A.

police officer which would have been more severe but I9
didn't think his intent was to hurt me so I didn't10
charge him with that.11

You testified today one of the things you were12 Q.

concerned about was him not going over to your vehicle;13
is that true?14

Yes.15 A.

Will you agree with me that he actually did walk16 Q.

over to your vehicle at some point during the17
interaction?18

Yes but it wasn't reasonable the amount of time19 A.

it took him.20
What would be a reasonable amount of time?21 Q.

Asking him to step in front of my car and him22 A.

doing so immediately.23
How fast is immediately?24 Q.

This is isn't based off of time my response.25 A.
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It's based off on the interaction.  I had to tell him he1
was detained multiple times.  I made it clear what he2
was detained for.  I said he was detained for3
obstructing.  I gave him several commands to step in4
front of my car.  I would think a reasonable person5
would walk over to my car then we'd have a conversation6
there.7

How specifically did his presence obstruct your8 Q.

ability to complete the traffic stop?9
Again I don't know what his intention is.  I10 A.

don't know if he's armed.  All I saw him was him11
recording which again I had no issue with and I told him12
I didn't have an issue with.  At some point in time if I13
were to issue a citation to the driver my focus would be14
on the driver and what's inside her car.  At that point15
I hadn't pulled her out.  I hadn't pat her down.  I16
don't know if she has any weapons in the car or what her17
intent was if there was anything underlying.  My18
intention on having Decastro back up was so that I19
didn't have split attention.  It was too close for me to20
have split attention.21

One of the things you stated you were concerned22 Q.

about I guess for a safety point of view was that he23
didn't identify himself; is that true?24

No, I didn't care about his identity until I had25 A.0031
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him detained.1
Okay.  At any point during, I guess the detention2 Q.

of the Defendant, did you pat him down to determine he3
didn't have any weapons?4

I did.5 A.

Okay.  When was that during the duration of the6 Q.

interaction?7
That was immediately after handcuffing.8 A.

Did you discover any weapons on him?9 Q.

No, I did not.10 A.

From your police car while he's walking up you11 Q.

essentially have a complete view of his movements and12
what he's doing at that point in time?13

Yes.14 A.

You never saw him during that time period before15 Q.

you got out of your car reach for weapons or anything16
like that?17

No.18 A.

Were there other individuals around the traffic19 Q.

stop other than Defendant and the driver?20
Not that I can remember.21 A.

Do you recall anyone walking through the scene22 Q.

and asking about the restaurant next door?23
I don't remember that.24 A.

But your testimony is if there was someone else25 Q.
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on video, you would have ordered that person to back up1
twenty-one feet?2

I would have first asked them to back up and most3 A.

people do.  If they did not comply then I would give4
them a specific area to back up to.5

You ordered him not to speak to the driver; is6 Q.

that correct?7
Yes.  Well -- I remember asking him to back up.8 A.

I don't remember if I remember specifically asked him9
not to speak to the driver.  I think I might have said10
don't talk to her or something to that effect.11

Did he speak to her before you got out of your12 Q.

patrol vehicle or afterwards?13
Before.  I saw Decastro filming.  I stayed in my14 A.

vehicle and continued my business.  Then when I saw him15
speaking to the driver that's when I exited.16

Did you see him speak to the driver after you17 Q.

exited the vehicle at any point?18
I don't remember if he spoke to the driver after19 A.

I exited.20
At any point did you hear specifically what he21 Q.

may have said to the driver?22
No.  I was too far away and it was windy.23 A.

Is it your position that anytime you're engaged24 Q.

in a traffic stop nobody can speak to the driver?25
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They can speak to them at a reasonable distance.1 A.

Is that the twenty-one feet?2 Q.

It could be.  It could be shorter.  It could be3 A.

longer.  Again it depends on the environment.  The4
totality of the circumstances.5

Do you think people can easily verbally6 Q.

communicate at twenty-one feet?7
No, not without shouting.8 A.

At some point the Defendant informed you that he9 Q.

was a member of the press?10
He did.11 A.

Did that influence any of the orders you chose to12 Q.

give or not give to the Defendant?13
No.  It doesn't matter.14 A.

Why does it not matter?  What is your basis of15 Q.

that statement, I guess?16
Media reporters and standard citizens I treat17 A.

them all the same.18
So you becoming aware that somebody is a member19 Q.

of the press does not affect your decision making in20
reference to your First Amendment training?21

No.  And how was I to know that was a member of22 A.

the press?  Whenever I interact with members of the23
press they usually identify what station they're with or24
group that they're with.  They usually have some sort of25
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identification badge and we have a good relationship1
with press out here.  They don't approach us the way2
that Decastro did.3

Are you familiar with the difference between4 Q.

traditional press and independent media?5
Yes.  But again independent media would approach6 A.

us more respectfully than Decastro.7
Is your opinion that traditional media has8 Q.

different rights than new media, independent media?9
MS. BOTELHO:  Objection, Your Honor.  At10

this point I think we are well beyond the scope.11
THE COURT:  Sustained.12
MS. BOTELHO:  Thank you.13
MR. MEE:  Court's indulgence.14

BY MR. MEE:15
Your testimony is that, if I recall correctly,16 Q.

that you received First Amendment training when you17
initially went through your officer training?18

Yes.19 A.

And you received one follow-up after that?20 Q.

No.  It was more than one.  I don't know exactly21 A.

how many.  Typically that training is annual.22
Your testimony just to reiterate this is the23 Q.

first time you've experienced a First Amendment issue of24
this nature in your career?250032
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MS. BOTELHO:  Objection.  I believe I1
objected to that question when it was posed as a violent2
encounter.  I also objected on the grounds of relevance.3
As the Court indicated what we're concerned about is his4
interaction with the Defendant specifically.  So I5
object.6

THE COURT:  Sustained.  I'm only concerned7
about this interaction.8
BY MR. MEE:9

Do you recall during your interactions with the10 Q.
Defendant that you told him that you believed First11
Amendment auditors often pull out guns and shoot people?12

I didn't say that they often do that.13 A.
Do you recall what you said?14 Q.
I don't.  I would have said he was a stranger to15 A.

me and that officers get ambushed all the time.  It16
could have been a First Amendment auditor.  It could17
have been a regular citizen.  It could have been a cook18
from one of the places nearby.  I wouldn't have19
specifically said that First Amendment auditors are a20
higher risk.21

Again just to reiterate your testimony is --22 Q.
MS. BOTELHO:  Objection.  Anytime it's23

prefaced as just to reiterate, I should object on asked24
and answered grounds and I did not just to hear it but25

46

just sounds like a reiteration of questions that have1
been previously asked.  So my objection is asked and2
answered.3

THE COURT:  I am going let him ask the4
question before I rule on your objection.5
BY MR. MEE:6

Again I am trying to clarify because I think it's7 Q.
ambiguous but do you recall the Defendant telling you he8
was a member of the press during the interaction?9

MS. BOTELHO:  Asked and answered.10
THE COURT:  Sustained.11
MR. MEE:  No further questions, Your Honor.12
THE COURT:  Any redirect?13
MS. BOTELHO:  No.  Thank you.14
THE COURT:  Thank you, Officer.  You may15

step down.16
THE WITNESS:  Thank you, Your Honor.17
THE COURT:  Does the State rest?18
MS. BOTELHO:  At this point we do.19
THE COURT:  Does the Defense have any20

witnesses?21
MR. MEE:  Your Honor, I call Jose Decastro.22
THE COURT:  All right.23
THE MARSHALL:  Remain standing, raise your24

right hand, and be sworn by the clerk.25
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THE CLERK:  Do you solemnly swear to tell1
the truth, the whole truth, and nothing but the truth?2

THE DEFENDANT:  Yes, I do.3
THE CLERK:  Be seated.4
THE COURT:  Mr. Decastro, before you testify5

I'm obligated to inform you that you have the right to6
testify in this proceeding but you also have the right7
to remain silent and should you choose to remain silent8
I may not hold that against you in making my decision.9
Do you understand that?10

THE DEFENDANT:  I do.11
THE COURT:  Do you still wish to testify?12
THE DEFENDANT:  Yes, I do.13
THE COURT:  All right.14

15
DIRECT EXAMINATION16

BY MR. MEE:17
You own a You Tube channel?18 Q.
Yes, I do.19 A.
Can give us some insight into what that channel20 Q.

is about?21
MS. BOTELHO:  Objection.  Relevance.22
THE COURT:  What's the relevance?23
MR. MEE:  Your Honor, the relevance is that24

we're presenting a First Amendment defense.  The25
48

Defendant is a member of the press.  There's different1
standards for First Amendment rulings where there's2
public policy at issue.  He can give you insight into3
that.4

THE COURT:  I'm going to allow it for a bit5
to see where it goes.6

THE DEFENDANT:  Yes, I do have a -- first, I7
do have a You Tube channel.  The reason I have a You8
Tube channel is because how many cops kill people every9
year.  How many cops hurt, maim, torture, rape, and kill10
people every single year.  It's such an epidemic that11
the rest of the world -- I get thousands of e-mails12
saying only in America does this happen.  I started13
filming cops because when I was cheated in 2002 --14

MS. BOTELHO:  Objection, at this point.15
Relevance.  Narrative.16

THE COURT:  So can you ask him a question?17
MR. MEE:  Yes, Your Honor.18

BY MR. MEE:19
What type of films do you make for your You Tube20 Q.

channel?21
I only film police in their official capacity.22 A.

I'm known across the country and across the world.23
Why do you engage in that type of filming?24 Q.

MS. BOTELHO:  Relevance.250033
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THE COURT:  I am asking you, Mr. Mee, to1
direct the questions about the incident in question.2

THE DEFENDANT:  The reason I was filming --3
MS. BOTELHO:  Objection, Your Honor.  There4

wasn't a question.5
BY MR. MEE:6

Mr. Decastro, on the date in question why did you7 Q.

approach that vehicle?8
I was filming that cop because that's what I do9 A.

for a living.  I am a member of the press.  I invoked my10
right to be press.  I always invoke my right to be press11
within that first ten seconds of engaging with police12
and I have thousands of videos to prove this.13

THE COURT:  So this is how you make money?14
THE DEFENDANT:  This is not how specifically15

I make money.  I make money from selling legal documents16
to people.17
BY MR. MEE:18

Do you recall the Officer telling you to back up?19 Q.

Yes, I do.20 A.

What did you do after he told you to back up?21 Q.

I took a couple steps back.  I just showed him I22 A.

was willing to back up a little bit, however, if I may?23
In Arizona --24

MS. BOTELHO:  Objection.  Relevance.  We are25
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not in Arizona.  It's the State of Nevada.1
THE COURT:  So I am going to allow it2

because I think that goes to why he kept saying ten feet3
in the video.  Even though I will take judicial notice4
that you're not in the State of Arizona.  You are in the5
State of Nevada.6

THE DEFENDANT:  A federal judge struck it7
down, Your Honor.  And --8

THE COURT:  Stop.  Can you ask him a9
question?10

MR. MEE:  Yes, Your Honor.11
BY MR. MEE:12

Approximately how many feet did you back up?13 Q.

I backed up a foot or two.  I was at least ten14 A.

feet away from the car that the driver was pulled over15
in.16

When you spoke to the driver what did you say?17 Q.

I asked her if she was okay.  The reason I film18 A.

police is because they abuse people so often.19
Do you recall the Officer telling you not to20 Q.

speak with the driver?21
Yes.22 A.

Did you make any statements to the driver after23 Q.

this command was given?24
Absolutely not.25 A.
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Did the Officer ever give you a specific distance1 Q.

to back up to?2
No.  He didn't.3 A.

If he did, would you have complied with that?4 Q.

Sure.5 A.

Did you believe you were complying with the6 Q.

Officer's commands?7
100 percent.  I also informed him I was a member8 A.

of the press and a Constitutional law scholar this is9
what I do.10

Do you recall the Officer explaining to you why11 Q.

he decided to arrest you?12
There's several parts to the reason why he said13 A.

he was going to arrest me because I wouldn't turn my14
head a certain direction.  If I didn't turn and face the15
car with my head that he'd place me under arrest instead16
of just giving me a ticket.17

Do you recall him explaining why he decided to18 Q.

detain you before he arrested you?19
He decided to detain me because he said I was20 A.

obstructing which from my understanding is a physical21
act where I would have to get in the way.  He said that22
the driver deserved privacy.  I believe my First23
Amendment rights are not up for feelings.24

Did he explain to you that the basis of your25 Q.
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detention was related primarily to the issue of privacy1
or the issue you of backing up?2

Well, I think from the Officer's testimony we can3 A.

see he's scared of the driver, scared of me, scared of4
everything.  They teach them to be afraid of everything.5
So I had two cameras out, identified as a member of the6
press -- I'm sorry, repeat the question.  I want to get7
it specific for the record.8

Sure.  The question was:  Did the Officer explain9 Q.

to you that the basis of your detention was you not10
backing up or because of a privacy issue?11

It was both.  He said that -- he told me to back12 A.

up and I backed up a little bit.  Then he said she13
deserves privacy.  Then I told him to go get in your car14
little doggy and write your ticket.  At that point his15
face turned beat read and his veins in his neck stuck16
out because we were over twenty feet away.  You had to17
holler to hear each other because the wind was 30 miles18
an hour.19

Did you at anytime attempt to hit any officers20 Q.

involved?21
No.  Absolutely not.22 A.

Did you intentionally swat at any officers?23 Q.

Absolutely not.  He was giving me unlawful24 A.

commands.  I should have not been detained after I250034
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identified as a member of the press.  If he ever reached1
a hand out towards me, I wrestle and teach MMA and I2
have for 30 years so it's just a natural reaction when3
retreating from somebody.  If I may have put my hand up4
as he said as he testified himself, I certainly am a law5
abiding citizen I don't break the law.  I would have not6
tried to assault an officer under any circumstances.7

Is it possible during the interaction there was8 Q.

inadvertent contact?9
Sure.  He decided to go hands on with me when he10 A.

was giving me unlawful commands.  There was absolutely11
no reason for it.  I was willing to comply with anything12
he asked within reason because I don't want to have a13
fist fight with another man on the street.14

Do you recall the Officer ordering you to go to15 Q.

his patrol vehicle?16
I do.17 A.

And what did you do in response to that?18 Q.

Initially I told him no.  But then when he began19 A.

to get physical with me and start to grab me and touch20
me, I said okay I'll go over to your car.  His car was21
35 feet away.  I then lead him to his car.  It's on22
video you can see it.  I walked right up to his car and23
he insisted still on grabbing me after he saw me pull24
out an additional phone.  Which that's what press people25
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do, we have lots of cameras on us.1
Did you inform the Officer that you were a member2 Q.

of the press?3
Oh, several times.  It's in the transcripts.4 A.

I've transcribed them myself.  Several times I told him5
I'm a member of the press.6

Did you explain to the Officer that you have7 Q.

background in Constitutional law?8
Yes.  I'm told him that I'm a Constitutional law9 A.

scholar which was a monicker given to me by other people10
who are also -- they have their own channels their own11
press and that's what some other lawyers on another12
channel called me three years ago and I since adapted13
the monicker.14

Just to get some further background, were you15 Q.

looking for police to record on this particular day?16
No.  The cops hide on the side of the road to17 A.

pull people over.  It's pretty regular in our country.18
I was just in the parking lot there and I saw that19
Mr. Bourque had somebody pulled over concerned for her20
safety I began to film.21

Why do you think law enforcement traffic stops22 Q.

are relevant to the public?23
That's where most people get killed.24 A.

MS. BOTELHO:  Objection.  Relevance --25
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THE COURT:  Sustained --1
MS. BOTELHO:  Move to strike.2
THE COURT:  Sustained.3
MR. MEE:  I'll pass the witness, Your Honor.4
THE COURT:  State?5
MS. BOTELHO:  I have no questions for this6

witness.  Thank you.7
THE COURT:  Thank you, sir.  You may step8

down.  Does the Defense rest?9
MR. MEE:  Yes, Your Honor.10
THE COURT:  Any argument by the State?11
MS. BOTELHO:  Your Honor, the State asks you12

find the Defendant guilty of both the obstructing a13
public officer as well as resisting a public officer14
charged against him.  The video very adequately portrays15
what the context was of the interaction with the16
Officer.  I would venture to say had the Defendant just17
complied with the original order to not engage with the18
driver and to back up we wouldn't be here.  He wouldn't19
have found himself further engaging Officer Bourque.20
This is not a First Amendment issue.  As you heard over21
and over and over again on the video Officer Bourque did22
not have a problem with the Defendant recording.  It's23
not a First Amendment issue, it's an officer safety24
issue.  Here you have an officer who conducted a lawful25
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traffic stop.  You saw the nature of the stop.  There1
was no animosity between the officer and the driver.  It2
was rather peaceful and they engaged in banter back and3
forth.  He would have as he testified he was trying to4
determine whether he was going to cite her or let her go5
with a warning.  Then you have an individual the6
Defendant introduce himself into the situation.  Traffic7
stops, Your Honor, are inherently dangerous particularly8
in parking lots and I guess anywhere, you know, I would9
venture to say.  This Officer was reasonable in thinking10
that anyone who would approach in the manner that the11
Defendant approached his scene would have a reason to12
fear for his safety or at least be suspicious of this13
individual's motives coming in.  The Officer had no14
problem with him recording.  The Officer had no problem15
with the Defendant observing.  It was when he inserted16
himself into this lawful detention that was occurring17
with the Hyundai driver that the Officer turned his18
attention to the Defendant.  This is not a First19
Amendment issue.  This is an individual who took his20
what he perceived to be his rights too far.  The Officer21
was well within his rights as well as acting reasonably22
when he asked him to back up.  That twenty-one foot rule23
it's appropriate.  He said that was the training that24
they received in terms of the distance that's allowed250035



57

for someone who means to do them harm.  It's a threat1
assessment.  We don't know when the Defendant approached2
whether he had a gun concealed, whether he had a knife3
concealed, whether he had other weapons.  You'll hear4
multiple times in the video Officer Bourque yelling stop5
reaching, stop reaching.  This is an unknown -- you know6
when Defense Counsel asked Officer Bourque all these7
questions about how it is that you do this and Officer8
Bourque had been responding it depends on the situation.9
It depends upon the totality of the circumstances.  Here10
was an officer acting alone engaged one to one with a11
driver that he had no problem with.  You insert another12
individual who enters the scene in the manner that the13
Defendant did and now this Officer's attention is going14
to be divided.  He had every reason to fear for his15
safety as well as that of the driver.  Again, if he had16
just complied with the Officer's commands or demands to17
back up, and you know, a lot was made about hey, he18
didn't have an opportunity to tell the Defendant exactly19
how far back.  As the Officer testified even just with20
the hey back up the Defendant didn't back up.  The21
Defendant didn't back up not willingly.  That's why the22
Officer had to continue to engage with him and force him23
into this situation.  Had he complied he would not have24
been charged with obstruction.  He had complied25
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initially he would not have been charged with the1
resisting.  Officers -- you are going to have to assess2
credibility.  There's nothing in the video or Officer3
Bourque's testimony that would cause the Court to4
question his veracity or his intention for that matter.5
He was very honest in that he didn't believe that the6
Defendant was trying to harm him necessarily with the7
swat that's why the Defendant wasn't charged with a8
battery on a protected person or a police officer but9
that swat, Your Honor, I would argue was meant to resist10
at that point in time the Officer was trying to detain11
him and subsequently arrest him on the obstruction as12
depicted in the video.  So I think at this point I think13
we've proved by beyond a reasonable doubt that the14
Defendant did hinder Officer Bourque's investigation and15
detention of the Hyundai driver and that he resisted the16
Officer's arrest or attempt to arrest him.  So we would17
ask that you find the Defendant guilty of both charges.18

THE COURT:  Thank you.  Defense?19
MR. MEE:  Yes, Your Honor.  First of all,20

you cannot obstruct an unlawful order.  I disagree with21
the State that is not a First Amendment issue.  The22
First Amendment in this context actually has two parts.23
There's the filming and the right to film within a24
reasonable distance.  The case law in all the federal25
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circuits, Your Honor, there's no twenty-one feet rule1
that's been approved by court of which I am aware.2
There is a ten-foot rule that seems to be the rule that3
is applied by most of the federal circuits in4
interpreting the First Amendment.  I submitted a bench5
brief that kinds of goes through that issue.6

THE COURT:  I don't have that.  When did you7
submit it?8

MR. MEE:  It was submitted yesterday, Your9
Honor.10

MS. BOTELHO:  At this point I move to strike11
because it's untimely.  I got it this morning when I12
walked into court.13

THE COURT:  Go ahead.14
MR. MEE:  The Officer's testimony that15

there's essentially this 21-foot distance where anybody16
can charge an officer and cause physical harm to an17
officer if that is applied universally, Your Honor, it18
totally diminishes and violates the First Amendment.19
That is as the Officer testified a 21-foot radius that20
he can attempt to impose I believe his testimony was21
anytime there's not an obstacle between a person and22
somebody that law enforcement is interacting with.23
That's just not what the law requires, Your Honor.  The24
First Amendment gives the media, new media, old media it25
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gives individuals the right to film government agents.1
There is no dispute that that's the requirement.  If the2
Officer is applying this 21-foot circumference to all3
law enforcement interactions he's affectively eliminated4
the ability to film law enforcement going about their5
duties.  The commands to not to talk to the driver are6
also not based on actual legal justification.  There is7
no right to privacy in public.  There's no requirements8
or no statute, no law, that citizens can't interact with9
drivers that are interacting with law enforcement.  So10
what's taken place here, Your Honor, is that this11
Officer has taken it upon himself to essentially act as12
the legislature and created these rules that have no13
basis in any law and are in fact contrary to the First14
Amendment.  Again, you can't obstruct an unlawful15
demand.  There's no obstruction of justice here.16
Resisting arrest, Your Honor, the Court can see the17
video.  Essentially what happened is he walked over to18
the front of the vehicle.  There was some dispute about19
why he was being detained.  That was discussed.  The20
case law in that area, Your Honor, is that if it's an21
unlawful arrest which it was in this case because22
they're essentially arresting him for violating these23
unlawful orders that they're pronouncing.  Again the24
case law you can passively resist an unlawful arrest.250036
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That's all that occurred here, Your Honor.  Thank you.1

THE COURT:  All right.  Mr. Decastro, please2
stand.  The problem with the argument that your attorney3
makes is it completely fails to consider the safety of4
the officer and the safety of the driver.  The Officer5
doesn't know who you are and the driver doesn't know who6
you are.  You don't have any right to interfere with7
that officer doing his investigation in deciding if he8
wants to issue a ticket to this driver.  You also don't9
have any business approaching the driver.  The driver10
didn't ask you for help.  The driver didn't say help,11
help, you know?  You didn't see an altercation happening12
between the Officer and this driver.  The Officer didn't13
protest that you were filming.  There's no problem with14
filming.  You can film.  It's fine.  All right?  But you15
did interfere with his investigation.  You did interfere16
with his ability to do his job.  You did put him in a17
position where he is concerned for his safety and the18
safety of the driver.  So I believe the State has met19
their burden beyond a reasonable doubt.  I'm going to20
find you guilty of obstructing a public officer and21
resisting a public officer.  I'd like to hear from State22
and then your attorney prior to sentencing.23

MS. BOTELHO:  Your Honor, in terms of24
sentencing I would ask that the Defendant enter and25
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complete an impulse control class.  I would ask that the1
Court lobby a $500 fine or the equivalent in community2
service.  I would ask that the Defendant be ordered to3
stay out of trouble for the pendency of the case.  I4
would ask for a 90-day suspended sentence.  That's as to5
each count to run concurrent.  That's our request.6

THE COURT:  Defense?7
MR. MEE:  Your Honor, I'm asking the Court8

to sentence the Defendant to credit for time served for9
these offenses.  Even if the Court concludes and the10
Court did conclude that he didn't have the right to do11
what he did, I think the Court can see that he sincerely12
believes that he had the right to do so.  That's based13
on his past experiences and the training he received in14
reference to the First Amendment.  I don't think there's15
any intent from the Defendant to engage in any16
wrongdoing in this case, Your Honor.  That being the17
case especially because of the public policy interest at18
issue --19

THE COURT:  When you say he doesn't wish to20
engage in any wrongdoing, it seems to me from observing21
him in the video he wants -- he wants this.  He wants to22
get arrested.  He wants to get into an altercation with23
the police officers.  He welcomes this.  This helps his24
You Tube channel.  He called the officers here in my25
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courtroom today pigs.  He called -- and he's nodding his1
head up and down.2

THE DEFENDANT:  I agree.3
THE COURT:  So apparently he hates every law4

enforcement officer in the United States.  Please stand5
up, sir.  Are you finished?6

MR. MEE:  I would emphasize, Your Honor,7
that the Defendant testified and he sincerely believes8
he is providing a public service when he reviews and9
films these incidents.  I understand the Court might10
have a different view of that but when we're talking11
First Amendment public policy issues such as supervising12
people involved in government, I think that is something13
the Court can take into consideration.  I will submit.14

THE COURT:  All right.  Mr. Decastro, please15
stand.  I hereby sentence you to 90 days in the Clark16
County Detention Center on Count 1.  90 days in the17
Clark County Detention Center on Count 2 to run18
consecutive for a total of 180 days in custody.  Thank19
you.20

THE DEFENDANT:  Sentence suspended or --21
THE COURT:  Oh, no.  It's going to start22

right now.23
/ / /24
/ / /25
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       ATTEST:  FULL, TRUE AND ACCURATE3
       TRANSCRIPT OF PROCEEDINGS.4

5
     \s\Christa Broka6

       CHRISTA D. BROKA, CCR 5747
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   IN THE JUSTICE COURT OF LAS VEGAS TOWNSHIP1
       COUNTY OF CLARK, STATE OF NEVADA2

-o0o-3
4

STATE OF NEVADA,         )5
         Plaintiff,      )6
    vs. ) Case No. 23CR0130157
JOSE DECASTRO, ) ATTEST RE: NRS 239B.0308
   Defendant, )9

)10
11

STATE OF NEVADA)
) ss12

COUNTY OF CLARK)
13

       I, Christa D. Broka, a Certified Shorthand14
Reporter within and for the county of Clark and the15
State of Nevada, do hereby certify:16
       That REPORTER'S TRANSCRIPT OF PROCEEDINGS was17
reported in open court pursuant to NRS 3.360 regarding18
the above proceedings in Las Vegas Justice Court 8,19
2024, Lewis Avenue, Las Vegas, Nevada.20
       That said TRANSCRIPT:21
 X          Does not contain the Social Security number22
of any person.23

         Contains the Social Security number of a24
person.25
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ATTEST:  I further certify that I am not

interested in the events of this action.

\s\Christa Broka

CHRISTA D. BROKA, CCR 574
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District Court 
Clark County, Nevada 

Jose Decastro, Appellant(s) 

vs 

State of Nevada, Respondent(s) 

Case No.: C-24-381730-A 

 Department 12 

Lower Court Case: 23-CR-013015 

To Appellant’s Attorney: Michael Mee 

To Respondent’s Attorney: Steven B Wolfson 

RECEIPT FOR DOCUMENTS  

You are hereby notified that the Clerk of District Court has filed the following: 

Notice of Appeal filed 03/26/2024 

STEVEN D. GRIERSON, CEO/Clerk of the Court 

By: /s/ Salevao Asifoa 

Deputy Clerk of the Court 

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

I hereby certify that this 26th day of March, 2024 

A copy of the foregoing Receipt for Document was electronically mailed to: 

mmee@defenselawyervegas.com 

Steven.Wolfson@clarkcountyda.com 

STEVEN D. GRIERSON, CEO/Clerk of the Court 

By: /s/ Salevao Asifoa 

Deputy Clerk of the Court 

Case Number: C-24-381730-A

Electronically Filed
3/26/2024 4:04 PM
Steven D. Grierson
CLERK OF THE COURT
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MOT 
CHRISTOPHER R. ORAM, ESQ. 
Nevada Bar No. 4349 
520 S. Fourth Street, Second Floor 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89101 
Telephone: (702) 384-5563 
contact@christopheroramlaw.com  
Attorney for Jose DeCastro  

JUSTICE COURT, LAS VEGAS TOWNSHIP 
CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA 

JOSE DECASTRO,  

Defendant, 
vs. 

STATE OF NEVADA, 

Plaintiff. 

) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
)
)

     CASE NO.: 23-CR- 013015 

     DEPT: VIII 

       HEARING REQUESTED 

)

MOTION FOR BAIL, OR IN THE ALTERNATIVE, 

FOR OWN RECOGNIZANCE RELEASE 

COMES NOW the Defendant, Jose DeCastro, by and through his attorney of record on 

appeal, CHRISTOPHER R. ORAM, ESQ., and hereby moves this Honorable Court to set a 

reasonable bail or in the alternative release Defendant on his own recognizance. 

This Motion is made and based on the papers and pleadings on file herein, the attached 

Memorandum and Points and Authorities in support hereof, the Declaration of Christopher R. 

Oram, Esq., and any oral argument that may be entertained by this Court at the time set for 

hearing in this Motion.  

Dated this 26th day of March 2024. /s/ Christopher R. Oram 

Christopher R. Oram, Esq. 
Nevada Bar No. 4349 
520 S. Fourth Street, Second Floor 
Las Vegas, NV 89101 
Attorney for Jose DeCastro 
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NOTICE OF MOTION 

TO: THE STATE OF NEVADA, Plaintiff; and 

TO:  OFFICE OF THE DISTRICT ATTORNEY, Counsel for Defendant 

YOU AND EACH OF YOU WILL PLEASE TAKE NOTICE that the undersigned will 

bring the above and foregoing MOTION FOR BAIL, OR IN THE ALTERNATIVE, FOR 

OWN RECOGNIZANCE RELEASE for hearing before Department VIII of the above-titled 

Court of the ___ day of _____, 2024, at the hour of _____. 

DATED this 26th, day of March 2024 

/s/ Christopher R. Oram  
Christopher R. Oram, Esq. 
Nevada Bar No. 4349 
520 S. Fourth Street, Second Floor 
Las Vegas, NV 89101 
Attorney for Jose DeCastro 
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MEMORANDUM OF POINTS AND AUTHORITIES 

I. STATEMENT OF RELEVANT FACTS

Mr. DeCastro is convicted of Obstructing a Public Officer and Resisting Public Officer 

that occurred when he was arrested on the 15th day of March 2023, while filming a traffic stop 

that occurred in a commercial parking lot. Mr. DeCastro appeared for an Arraignment on June 

13th, 2023, in the Las Vegas Township Justice Court Department 8. Bench Trial began on March 

19th, 2024, and judgment was entered on the same day. On March 19th, 2024, Mr. DeCastro was 

sentenced to one-hundred and eighty (180) days in the Clark County Detention Center.  

Following his sentencing, on March 19th, 2024, Mr. DeCastro filed a Notice of Appeal 

from the Judgment of Convictions. On March 20th, 2024, the case was remanded to the District 

Court.  

II. LEGAL ARGUMENT

Mr. Castro’s Right to Bail under Nevada law. 

NRS § 178.488, states in relevant part that “[p]ending appeal to a district court, bail may 

be allowed by the trial justice, by the district court, or by any judge thereof, to run until final 

termination of the proceedings in all courts.” NV Rev Stat § 178.488 (2015). 

NRS § 178.135, states that “[a]dmission to bail upon appeal shall be provided in this 

title”. NV Rev Stat § 178.135 (2015). 

“Bail may be imposed only where it is necessary to reasonably ensure the defendant’s 

appearance at court proceedings or to protect the community, including the victim and the 

victim’s family”. Valdez-Jimenez v. Eighth Judicial Dist. Court of Nev., 136 Nev. 155. 

In the instant case, Mr. DeCastro is appealing the Judgment of Convictions following a 

Bench Trial raising the issue of the denial of his constitutional rights as guaranteed by United 

0091



 

 4 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

 

 

States Constitution and the Nevada State Constitution. Mr. DeCastro’s case is pending appeal in 

a district court and thus he may be entitled to reasonable bail to run until the final termination of 

the proceedings in court. NV Rev Stat § 178.488 (2015). 

 Mr. DeCastro is appealing the conviction of two (2) non-violent misdemeanor violations 

of Obstructing a Public Officer and Resisting Public Officer following his arrest while filming a 

traffic stop that occurred in a commercial parking lot. Mr. DeCastro’s appeal raises significant 

constitutional issues that were not litigated prior to trial.  

 Mr. DeCastro is regretful of his disrespectful behavior in Court and hopes to correct his 

behavior and rectify his reputation by adhering to established Court Room etiquette. 

 Mr. De Castro has no prior convictions and since arriving in Las Vegas in 1999 has built 

a longstanding reputation within the community amongst his family, friends, and co-workers. 

Mr. DeCastro is joined in Las Vegas by his loving family including his sister Maria, niece Tierra 

and nephew Mason Jr. whom he visits frequently. As well as spending time with his family, for 

nearly twenty (20) years Mr. De Castro has contributed to the community by regularly 

volunteering as a youth wrestling coach with the Athletic Training Center.   

 Along with his excellent reputation, Mr. DeCastro is known for being a dedicated and 

motivated worker. Since moving to Las Vegas, Mr. DeCastro has invested in the community by 

starting several businesses. Mr. DeCastro built and operates three (3) separate online 

companies, including a legal literature store, an apparel store, and a digital media site. With his 

business endeavors Mr. DeCastro employs three (3) full-time employees that operate within 

Nevada and has hired an additional six (6) full-time employees around the country.  

 In the instant case, Mr. DeCastro is appealing two (2) misdemeanors with a 90-day 

sentence. Mr. DeCastro’s motivation remains focused on preparing a thorough appeal and 

ultimately returning to his family and carrying on the responsibilities of a small business owner. 
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Furthermore, Mr. DeCastro is prepared and motivated to litigate his appeal while adhering to all 

possible conditions set by the Court.   

CONCLUSION 

 For these reasons, Mr. DeCastro respectfully requests that this Honorable Court grant his 

request for reasonable bail or in the alternative, a release on his own recognizance with the added 

condition of high-level electronic monitoring. 

 

DATED this 26th day of March 2024. 

   /s/ Christopher R. Oram. 
   Christopher R. Oram, Esq. 
   Nevada Bar No. 4349 
   520 S. Fourth Street, 2nd Floor 
   Las Vegas, NV 89101 
   Attorney for Jose DeCastro 
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DECLARATION OF CHRISTOPHER R. ORAM, ESQ., 

I, Christopher R. Oram, declare that I am competent to testify. I have personal 

knowledge of the facts set forth above, except for those statements expressly made upon 

information and belief, and as to those facts, I believe them to be true. 

That I am an attorney duly licensed to practice law in the State of Nevada and that The 

Law Office of Christopher Oram has been appointed as counsel to represent Jose DeCastro in 

this matter.  

That I have read the contents of the above Motion and that, based upon information and 

belief, all the factual allegations contained therein are true and correct.  

I make this declaration under penalty of perjury under the laws of the State of Nevada 

this 26th day of March 2024. 

/s/ Christopher R. Oram  

Christopher R. Oram, Esq. 
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NOTICE OF MOTION 

TO: STATE OF NEVADA, Plaintiff;  

TO: STEVEN B. WOLFSON, District Attorney, Attorney for Plaintiff; 

YOU, AND EACH OF YOU, will please take notice that the undersigned will bring the 

foregoing MOTION FOR BAIL, OR IN THE ALTERNATIVE, FOR OWN RECOGNIZANCE 

RELEASE on for hearing at the Las Vegas Justice Court, 200 Lewis Avenue in Department 

VIII of the Las Vegas Justice Court, on the ________ day of __________________, 2024, at 

the hour of ________ a.m./p.m. or as soon thereafter as Counsel may be heard. 

Dated this 26th day of March 2024. 

/s/ Christopher R. Oram. 
Christopher R. Oram, Esq. 
Nevada Bar No. 4349 
520 S. Fourth Street, 2nd Floor 
Las Vegas, NV 89101 
Attorney for Jose DeCastro 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

I hereby certify that on this 26th day of March 2024, I served a true and correct copy of 

the foregoing document entitled MOTION FOR BAIL, OR IN THE ALTERNATIVE, FOR OWN 

RECOGNIZANCE RELEASE to the Clark County District Attorney’s Office and all other parties 

associated with this case by electronic mail as follows: 

CLARK COUNTY DISTRICT ATTORNEY 
motions@clarkcountyda.com 
pdmotions@clarkcountyda.com 

By:    /s/ Tyler G. Perry 
An employee of Christopher R. Oram, Esq. 
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 Michael Ehline, Esq. 

(Texas SBN: 24130824; California SBN 236202)  
612 El Loro Rd  
Las Vegas, Nevada 89138  

Your Honor, 

I am writing to provide a character reference and to express my support for Jose (Chille) 
DeCastro, who is currently in custody pending appeal. As a California lawyer, I have had the 
privilege of knowing Chille personally and professionally, and I can attest to his outstanding 
character, integrity, and contributions to our community. I am presently grooming Mr. DeCastro 
for acceptance into the California State Bar Law Office Study Program. I have known Mr. 
DeCastro for approximately one year.  

My observations are that Chille DeCastro is a dedicated individual who has always demonstrated 
a strong commitment to upholding the law and serving the community. In his work with me, he 
has exhibited professionalism, diligence, and a genuine passion for justice. His unwavering 
dedication to his work and his ethical conduct make him an exemplary member of our society.  
I firmly believe that Chille DeCastro is not a flight risk and poses no danger to the community. 
He has deep roots in the community and strong ties to his family and friends, who are supportive 
of him during this challenging time.  

It is in the interest of justice to allow him to be released from custody pending the outcome of his 
appeal. Granting him bail would enable him to continue working with his legal team to prepare 
his case effectively while also allowing him to support his family and contribute positively to 
society.  

I respectfully urge the Nevada Courts to consider Chille DeCastro's character, contributions, and 
the merits of his case when deciding on his bail application. I am confident that he will continue 
to uphold the law and abide by any conditions imposed by the court if granted bail.  

Thank you for considering my letter in support of Chille DeCastro. Please do not hesitate to 
contact me if you require any further information.  

Sincerely, 

Michael Ehline, Esq. 
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To Your Honor, 
 
  I am writing this letter to share my experience and relationship with a defendant Jose 
(J.D.) DeCastro, currently in Clack County Jail.  
    

 We are neighbors in business, and I have enjoyed sharing space and conversations with 
JD. It is my opinion; he is the furthest thing from a person who should be in jail. He is not a 
violent man, and he has proven to be very responsible to his obligations. His job as an online 
creator can come across as abrasive and confrontational, but his personal side is charming and 
agreeable.  
     

One time, after a rolling cart was stolen from my business frontal area, JD express 
shipped an Amazon replacement cart to me, knowing it would be a thoughtful and valuable gift, 
never once asking for reciprocation. We have become friends over the last year plus and his 
behavior has always been kind, cheerful and empathetic.  
     

Incarnation serves no purpose here other than to take a productive member of our 
community away. Please reconsider your decision with Jose DeCastro. 
      
     Thank you for reading this letter. 
 
Steve Berg, 
 
Owner, 
Vegas Homebrew  
5140 W. Charleston Blvd. 
LV, NV 89146 
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FROM: DICK HELLER 
Supreme Court Case 
D.C vs. HELLER  
Washington, DC  

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~ 

If it may please The Court; 

I am a retired police officer having worked both on the street and for the Federal Bureau of Prisons 
in Washington, DC.  

With my background of advocating in court for civil rights, it certainly would not be in my 
professional best interest to associate with or much less link up and to work with someone that 
condoned violence in any way. As such, DeCastro has no criminal record, no convictions, and is a 
non-violent productive man. 

Mr. DeCastro has a clean record, first time offender, and no convictions. For the above reasons, I 
pray the court will provide him with a reasonable bail.  

Most sincerely, 

/S/ Dick Heller 
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Your Honor, 

Jose DeCastro is a grounded citizen here in Las Vegas, please let him out. 

He's an upstanding citizen of the community. I've known him for over 25 years, and he's been a 
great friend to all around him and never one to hurt a person. 

Gene Samuel 
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ORDR 

DISTRICT COURT 

CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA 

JOSE DECASTRO, 

Appellant, 

vs. 

STATE OF NEVADA, 

  Respondent. 

)
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 

Case No.: C-24-381730-A 

DEPT. No.: XII 

ORDER SETTING HEARING IN DISTRICT COURT XII ON CRIMINAL APPEAL 

FROM LAS VEGAS JUSTICE COURT

IT IS HEREBY ORDERED THAT: 

A. The above-entitled Criminal Appeal from Las Vegas Justice Court has been set for

hearing on Wednesday, July 10, 2024, at 9:00 a.m. in Department XII of the

District Court.

B. Within Ten (10) days after filing of the Notice of Appeal, the transcript should have

been ordered for inclusion in the record on appeal unless a greater amount of time has

been allowed.  The transcript shall be ordered by the Appellant.

C. The parties are hereby ordered to submit appellate briefs as follows:

1. Appellant’s Opening Brief shall be filed by May 6, 2024 with the District

Court Clerk and served on Respondent.

2. The Respondent shall serve an Answering Brief by June 5, 2024.

3. After service of Respondent’s Brief, any Reply Brief must be served and filed

by June 19, 2024.

E. Original Briefs shall be filed with the District Court Clerk.  Courtesy copies of

Electronically Filed
03/28/2024 3:23 PM
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briefs shall be submitted to Department XII of the Eighth Judicial District 

Court at dept12lc@clarkcountycourts.us. 

F. Failure to comply with this Order shall result in the dismissal of the appeal or

any other remedy deemed appropriate by the Court.

___________________________________ 

\po 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

I hereby certify on the date filed, this document was electronically served to the email 

addresses and/or by Fax transmission or by standard mail to: 

Michael Mee, Esq. 
mmee@defenselawyervegas.com 

Agnes Botelho, Chief Deputy District Attorney 
Agnes.botelho@clarkcountyda.com 

_____________________________ 
Pamela Osterman  
Judicial Executive Assistant 
Department XII 
Eighth Judicial District Court 
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CSERV

DISTRICT COURT
CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA

CASE NO: C-24-381730-AJose Decastro, Appellant(s)

vs

State of Nevada, Respondent(s)

DEPT. NO.  Department 12

AUTOMATED CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

This automated certificate of service was generated by the Eighth Judicial District 
Court. The foregoing Order was served via the court’s electronic eFile system to all 
recipients registered for e-Service on the above entitled case as listed below:

Service Date: 3/28/2024

Brittany Falconi media@ournevadajudges.com
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CASE NO. C-24-381730-A

IN THE JUSTICE COURT OF LAS VEGAS TOWNSHIP

COUNTY OF CLARK, STATE OF NEVADA

THE STATE OF NEVADA, )

Plaintiff, )

vs. )  CASE NO. 23CR013015

JOSE DECASTRO, )

Defendant. )

)

REPORTER'S TRANSCRIPT OF PROCEEDINGS
BEFORE THE HONORABLE ANN E. ZIMMERMAN

JUSTICE OF THE PEACE
MONDAY, APRIL 1, 2024

8:00 A.M.

APPEARANCES:

For the State: A. BOTELHO, ESQ.
DEPUTY DISTRICT ATTORNEY

For the Defendant: C. ORAM, ESQ.
ATTORNEY AT LAW

Reported by: CHRISTA BROKA, CCR. No. 574

2

LAS VEGAS, CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA,1
APRIL 1, 2024 AT 8:00 A.M.2

P R O C E E D I N G S3
4

THE COURT:  Jose Decastro, 23CR013015.  Good5
morning.6

MR. ORAM:  Good morning, Your Honor.7
Christopher Oram on behalf of Mr. DeCastro.  He is8
present in custody.9

THE COURT:  Nice to see you, Chris.10
MS. BOTELHO:  Agnes Botelho for the State11

bar number 11064.12
THE COURT:  This is your motion.13
MR. ORAM:  Yes, Your Honor.  First of all,14

I've had a chance to watch the video of the trial.  I15
watched Mr. Decastro come into your courtroom in an16
extraordinarily disrespectful fashion and refer to the17
marshall in an inappropriate way.  I then saw some other18
things that I would consider very poor courtroom antics.19
Mr. Decastro was convicted.  He was given six months in20
jail.  One thing I know that he wanted to do today is21
for no other purpose no matter what your ruling he wants22
to say sorry.  I've asked him if he'd say sorry to the23
Court.  I understand that you may see it as that he24
should apologize to the marshall.  I don't see the25

3

marshall he did this to here.  The issues that I saw1
seem to be significant Constitutional issues.  The Court2
addressed it but what I did notice is this should have3
really been briefed beforehand on First Amendment issues4
so the Court could have had that, that's no fault, but I5
think it should have been done beforehand.  I also6
noticed at the time of sentencing the State asked for a7
suspended sentence but Mr. Decastro just pushed it,8
pushed it, pushed it, and I see that reasonably agitated9
and irritated the Court causing a sentence that is now10
six months.  This man from what I can tell, Your Honor,11
has no prior felony convictions whatsoever.  I'm doing12
that upon information and belief.  I haven't run his13
scope.  I know the State can do that but I don't see14
that he has any felony convictions.  He's made his15
appearances.  I think the time in jail has been shocking16
to him.  I know it has because I can tell the reaction17
of the calls everyday and how difficult it is for him.18
I think he pushed this and has -- is learning a very19
very difficult lesson in life.  I would ask the Court to20
consider based on his ties to the community with a21
sister here, nephew, he has a whole bunch of people that22
wanted to come to court which I suggested if they come23
here be respectful and mindful of what's already24
occurred in this court.  But what I'd ask the Court to25

4

do given his lack of any serious criminal history, his1
remorse for his behavior in this courtroom during the2
trial, and the fact that the State at the time did not3
want jail time, I'd ask for an appeal bond, Your Honor.4
So the issue can be -- these issues can be properly5
raised.  And so with that, Your Honor, I'd ask for an6
O.R.  I would just say a reasonable bail.  I would7
suggest that since he came to the trial and he has since8
gotten a taste of what inappropriate behavior in a9
courtroom looks like and feels like, I would ask for a10
bail in the amount of 10 or $20,000 -- an appeal bond in11
the amount 10 or $20,000.  With that, Your Honor, I12
would submit.13

THE COURT:  State?14
MS. BOTELHO:  Your Honor, may I respond15

orally?  Typically pursuant to the Nevada Rules of16
Criminal Practice the State has ten days to file an17
opposition but this was placed on calendar very quickly.18
So I would ask for leave of the the Court to answer19
orally.20

THE COURT:  Okay.21
MS. BOTELHO:  Your Honor, I am in receipt of22

Mr. Oram's motion for bail or in the alternative for his23
own recognizance release.  I would note that NRS 178.48824
does make it discretionary upon this Court whether you25

Case Number: C-24-381730-A

Electronically Filed
4/22/2024 3:01 PM
Steven D. Grierson
CLERK OF THE COURT
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5
would allow bail pending appeal.  Mr. Decastro there has1
been a briefing schedule set before Judge Leavitt in2
District Court on the appeal but it's not set to be3
heard until July.  It's discretionary, Your Honor.  The4
State would oppose this Court setting a bail at this5
point.  There seems to be this assumption that this6
Court sentenced Mr. Decastro to six months in the Clark7
County Detention Center just because of his conduct or8
his inappropriate conduct in court.  I would venture to9
say that Your Honor presided over the trial to where you10
found guilt beyond a reasonable doubt for both the11
obstructing a police officer and resisting a police12
officer.  You saw his conduct in the body worn camera by13
the officer and I would venture to say and I would14
submit to the Court that the six-month sentence that you15
imposed isn't simply for his behavior in court or his16
behavior to your marshall but that is an appropriate17
sentence placed on upon the Defendant by the Court due18
to the charges and the evidence that you saw during19
trial.  There's also been this claim that Mr. Decastro20
has stayed trouble free for most of his life.  I would21
venture to say, yes, he does not have felony22
convictions.  He does not have gross misdemeanor23
convictions.  But he does have pretty consistent contact24
with law enforcement.  He does have a warrant out of25

6
Ohio a trespass and I understand that's a piddley1
misdemeanor, however, it is in warrant status.  He has a2
pending case in Las Vegas Justice Court for the very3
same offenses that this Court heard during the trial4
here.  As to the claim that, you know, hey, there were5
issues before trial and there were First Amendment6
issues raised and briefed prior to, Your Honor Defense7
Counsel was able to argue the First Amendment defense.8
Your Honor, heard these arguments both during the trial9
and during closing arguments.  Mr. Decastro when he took10
the stand raised them as a defense.  But Your Honor held11
after listening to all of the evidence and applying the12
law, Your Honor held -- found him guilty regardless.13
This was not a First Amendment issue.  The State stands14
by that.  This was simply the Defendant breaking the law15
and he was sentenced accordingly for his behavior.  It16
was conduct -- it was a consequence an appropriate17
sentence imposed by the Court to the Defendant.  We18
would oppose any kind of change or bail setting or O.R.19
at this point.  This is not a pretrial detention.  This20
is not pretrial -- Valdez-Jiminez was cited also in the21
Defense Counsel's motion.  Valdez-Jiminez is about22
pretrial detention.  Mr. Decastro is no longer cloaked23
with the presumption of innocence.  He has been found24
guilty beyond a reasonable doubt by Your Honor.  At this25

7
point I would ask that the six-month sentence that you1
imposed stand and he remain in custody.2

MR. ORAM:  May I reply?3
THE COURT:  I'm going to ask the interpreter4

to quit reading.  Thank you.5
MR. ORAM:  Your Honor, the statute we cited6

is in fact just discretionary to you to determine7
pending appeal whether an appeal bond can be issued.  I8
hear the State.  I recognize you found him guilty.  I am9
not trying to in anyway argue that.  On appeal there are10
legitimate issues.  The Court can see there are some11
First Amendment issues just from watching the video12
things that a Court can consider on appeal so that's the13
only basis I'm bringing that up on.  But given the fact14
that I think he really is contrite for what he's done --15

THE COURT:  I disagree.  Have you watched16
the videos that have been posted since he has been17
incarcerated?18

MR. ORAM:  I am in a murder trial, Your19
Honor.20

THE COURT:  I guess he can apologize to me21
in a minute but that's not what he's saying on -- what22
he's publishing online and in his phone calls from the23
jail.  That's not what he's saying at all.  Are you24
aware that he has a trial pending in Las Vegas Municipal25

8
Court, he has a case pending in Good Springs Justice1
Court where he continues to manufacture situations where2
he will get arrested?3

MR. ORAM:  Your Honor, I represent that's4
what he was sort of doing for a living.  He's now been5
incarcerated --6

THE COURT:  What he is saying in the couple7
of weeks since he's been incarcerated when he calls from8
the jail and publishes them on his website is not what9
he's about to say to me.  Okay?  So he's going to10
apologize to me now but that's not what he's doing11
publicly.  Okay?12

MR. ORAM:  Okay.  I won't have him speak at13
this time.  But I would still ask you to consider that14
there may be legitimate issues, I think there are, for15
Judge Leavitt to consider.  I think these are sort of16
issues of first impression that was the other thing I17
saw is in the State of Nevada I can't find any case law18
that specifically talks about this filming of police19
officers.  What I would say to the Court is I recognize20
it's obnoxious behavior is what it appears to be.21
Whether it's protected is another thing that I think22
higher courts need to look at.  I can see if the Court23
has already made up its mind --24

THE COURT:  I want to be clear that I did250107



9
not have a problem with him filming and I said that when1
I sentenced him.  That was not the issue.  It was the2
safety issues that he created with his behavior.  I also3
did not sentence him because of his ridiculous behavior4
in court.  That wasn't why I sentenced him to jail.  I5
sentenced him because I found him guilty beyond a6
reasonable doubt and I thought that was the appropriate7
sentence.  I could have given him 180 days on each count8
and ran it consecutive for a year in jail but I didn't.9
His behavior was unacceptable in court but that's not10
what I sentenced him for.  I did not sentence him for11
his behavior in court.  I sentenced him for his behavior12
for the two charges that he faced.13

MR. ORAM:  Yes, Your Honor.14
THE COURT:  All right.   So your motion is15

denied.  Thank you.16
*  *  *  *  *17

18
       ATTEST:  FULL, TRUE AND ACCURATE19
       TRANSCRIPT OF PROCEEDINGS.20

21
     \s\Christa Broka22

       CHRISTA D. BROKA, CCR 57423
24
25

10
   IN THE JUSTICE COURT OF LAS VEGAS TOWNSHIP1
       COUNTY OF CLARK, STATE OF NEVADA2

-o0o-3
4

STATE OF NEVADA,         )5
         Plaintiff,      )6
    vs. ) Case No. 23CR0130157
JOSE DECASTRO, ) ATTEST RE: NRS 239B.0308
   Defendant, )9

)10
11

STATE OF NEVADA)
) ss12

COUNTY OF CLARK)
13

       I, Christa D. Broka, a Certified Shorthand14
Reporter within and for the county of Clark and the15
State of Nevada, do hereby certify:16
       That REPORTER'S TRANSCRIPT OF PROCEEDINGS was17
reported in open court pursuant to NRS 3.360 regarding18
the above proceedings in Las Vegas Justice Court 8,19
2024, Lewis Avenue, Las Vegas, Nevada.20
       That said TRANSCRIPT:21
 X          Does not contain the Social Security number22
of any person.23

         Contains the Social Security number of a24
person.25

1
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11

ATTEST:  I further certify that I am not

interested in the events of this action.

\s\Christa Broka

CHRISTA D. BROKA, CCR 574
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MOT 
CHRISTOPHER R. ORAM, ESQ. 
Nevada Bar No. 4349 
520 S. Fourth Street, Second Floor 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89101 
Telephone: (702) 384-5563 
contact@christopheroramlaw.com  
Attorney for Jose DeCastro  

DISTRICT COURT 
CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA 

JOSE DECASTRO,  

Defendant, 
vs. 

STATE OF NEVADA, 

Plaintiff. 

) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
)
)

     CASE NO.: C-24-381730-A 

     DEPT: XII 

       HEARING REQUESTED 

)

MOTION FOR BAIL, OR IN THE ALTERNATIVE, 

FOR OWN RECOGNIZANCE RELEASE 

COMES NOW the Defendant, Jose DeCastro, by and through his attorney of record on 

appeal, CHRISTOPHER R. ORAM, ESQ., and hereby moves this Honorable Court to set a 

reasonable bail or in the alternative release Defendant on his own recognizance. 

This Motion is made and based on the papers and pleadings on file herein, the attached 

Memorandum and Points and Authorities in support hereof, the Declaration of Christopher R. 

Oram, Esq., and any oral argument that may be entertained by this Court at the time set for 

hearing in this Motion.  

Dated this 4th day of April 2024.  /s/ Christopher R. Oram 

Christopher R. Oram, Esq. 
Nevada Bar No. 4349 
520 S. Fourth Street, Second Floor 
Las Vegas, NV 89101 
Attorney for Jose DeCastro 

Case Number: C-24-381730-A

Electronically Filed
4/4/2024 1:46 PM
Steven D. Grierson
CLERK OF THE COURT
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NOTICE OF MOTION 

TO: THE STATE OF NEVADA, Plaintiff; and 

TO:  OFFICE OF THE DISTRICT ATTORNEY, Counsel for Defendant 

YOU AND EACH OF YOU WILL PLEASE TAKE NOTICE that the undersigned will 

bring the above and foregoing MOTION FOR BAIL, OR IN THE ALTERNATIVE, FOR 

OWN RECOGNIZANCE RELEASE for hearing before Department VIII of the above-titled 

Court of the ___ day of _____, 2024, at the hour of _____. 

DATED this 4th, day of April 2024 

/s/ Christopher R. Oram  
Christopher R. Oram, Esq. 
Nevada Bar No. 4349 
520 S. Fourth Street, Second Floor 
Las Vegas, NV 89101 
Attorney for Jose DeCastro 
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MEMORANDUM OF POINTS AND AUTHORITIES 

I. STATEMENT OF RELEVANT FACTS

Mr. DeCastro is convicted of Obstructing a Public Officer and Resisting Public Officer 

that occurred when he was arrested on the 15th day of March 2023, while filming a traffic stop 

that occurred in a commercial parking lot. Mr. DeCastro appeared for an Arraignment on June 

13th, 2023, in the Las Vegas Township Justice Court Department 8. Bench Trial began on March 

19th, 2024, and judgment was entered on the same day. On March 19th, 2024, Mr. DeCastro was 

sentenced to one-hundred and eighty (180) days in the Clark County Detention Center.  

Following his sentencing, on March 19th, 2024, Mr. DeCastro filed a Notice of Appeal 

from the Judgment of Convictions. On March 20th, 2024, the case was remanded to the District 

Court.  

On March 26th, 2024, Mr. DeCastro filed a Motion for Bail, or in the Alternative, For 

Own Recognizance Release in the Las Vegas Justice Court. On April 1st, 2024, a hearing on the 

motion was held in Department 8 before the Honorable Judge Zimmerman, and Mr. DeCastro’s 

motion was denied. 

II. LEGAL ARGUMENT

Mr. Castro’s Right to Bail under Nevada law. 

NRS § 178.488, states in relevant part that “[p]ending appeal to a district court, bail may 

be allowed by the trial justice, by the district court, or by any judge thereof, to run until final 

termination of the proceedings in all courts.” NV Rev Stat § 178.488 (2015). 

NRS § 178.135, states that “[a]dmission to bail upon appeal shall be provided in this 

title”. NV Rev Stat § 178.135 (2015). 

0111



4 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

“Bail may be imposed only where it is necessary to reasonably ensure the defendant’s 

appearance at court proceedings or to protect the community, including the victim and the 

victim’s family”. Valdez-Jimenez v. Eighth Judicial Dist. Court of Nev., 136 Nev. 155. 

In the instant case, Mr. DeCastro is appealing the Judgment of Convictions following a 

Bench Trial raising the issue of the denial of his constitutional rights as guaranteed by United 

States Constitution and the Nevada State Constitution. Mr. DeCastro’s case is pending appeal in 

a district court and thus he may be entitled to reasonable bail to run until the final termination of 

the proceedings in court. NV Rev Stat § 178.488 (2015). 

Mr. DeCastro is appealing the conviction of two (2) non-violent misdemeanor violations 

of Obstructing a Public Officer and Resisting Public Officer following his arrest while filming a 

traffic stop that occurred in a commercial parking lot. Mr. DeCastro’s appeal raises significant 

constitutional issues that were not litigated prior to trial. Additionally, Mr. DeCastro has no 

criminal history of violence and has no prior felony convictions.  

Furthermore, it should be noted that in the instant case, at sentencing the State requested 

that the Court grant Mr. DeCastro a suspended sentence.  

Mr. DeCastro is regretful of his disrespectful behavior in Justice Court, during trial, and 

hopes to correct his behavior and rectify his reputation by adhering to established Court Room 

etiquette. 

Upon information and belief, since arriving in Las Vegas in 1999, Mr. DeCastro has built 

a longstanding reputation within the community amongst his family, friends, and co-workers. 

Mr. DeCastro is joined in Las Vegas by his loving family including his sister Maria, niece Tierra 

and nephew Mason Jr. whom he visits frequently. As well as spending time with his family, for 

nearly twenty (20) years Mr. De Castro has contributed to the community by regularly 

volunteering as a youth wrestling coach with the Athletic Training Center.   
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Along with his excellent reputation, Mr. DeCastro is known for being a dedicated and 

motivated worker. Since moving to Las Vegas, Mr. DeCastro has invested in the community by 

starting several businesses. Mr. DeCastro built and operates three (3) separate online 

companies, including a legal literature store, an apparel store, and a digital media site. With his 

business endeavors Mr. DeCastro employs five (5) full-time employees that operate within 

Nevada and around the country.  

In the instant case, Mr. DeCastro is appealing two (2) misdemeanors of which each carry 

a 90-day sentence. Mr. DeCastro’s motivation remains focused on preparing a thorough appeal 

and ultimately returning to his family and carrying on the responsibilities of a small business 

owner. Furthermore, Mr. DeCastro is prepared and motivated to litigate his appeal while 

adhering to all possible conditions set by the Court.   

CONCLUSION 

For these reasons, Mr. DeCastro respectfully requests that this Honorable Court grant his 

request for reasonable bail or in the alternative, a release on his own recognizance with the added 

condition of high-level electronic monitoring. 

DATED this 4th day of April 2024. 

/s/ Christopher R. Oram. 
Christopher R. Oram, Esq. 
Nevada Bar No. 4349 
520 S. Fourth Street, 2nd Floor 
Las Vegas, NV 89101 
Attorney for Jose DeCastro 
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DECLARATION OF CHRISTOPHER R. ORAM, ESQ., 

I, Christopher R. Oram, declare that I am competent to testify. I have personal 

knowledge of the facts set forth above, except for those statements expressly made upon 

information and belief, and as to those facts, I believe them to be true. 

That I am an attorney duly licensed to practice law in the State of Nevada and that The 

Law Office of Christopher Oram has been appointed as counsel to represent Jose DeCastro in 

this matter.  

That I have read the contents of the above Motion and that, based upon information and 

belief, all the factual allegations contained therein are true and correct.  

I make this declaration under penalty of perjury under the laws of the State of Nevada 

this 4th day of April 2024. 

/s/ Christopher R. Oram  

Christopher R. Oram, Esq. 
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NOTICE OF MOTION 

TO: STATE OF NEVADA, Plaintiff;  

TO: STEVEN B. WOLFSON, District Attorney, Attorney for Plaintiff; 

YOU, AND EACH OF YOU, will please take notice that the undersigned will bring the 

foregoing MOTION FOR BAIL, OR IN THE ALTERNATIVE, FOR OWN RECOGNIZANCE 

RELEASE on for hearing at the Clark County Eighth Judicial District Court, 200 Lewis Avenue 

in Department XII of the Eighth Judicial District Court, on the ________ day of 

__________________, 2024, at the hour of ________ a.m./p.m. or as soon thereafter as Counsel 

may be heard. 

Dated this 4th day of April 2024.  

/s/ Christopher R. Oram. 
Christopher R. Oram, Esq. 
Nevada Bar No. 4349 
520 S. Fourth Street, 2nd Floor 
Las Vegas, NV 89101 
Attorney for Jose DeCastro 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

I hereby certify that on this 4th day of April 2024, I served a true and correct copy of the 

foregoing document entitled MOTION FOR BAIL, OR IN THE ALTERNATIVE, FOR OWN 

RECOGNIZANCE RELEASE to the Clark County District Attorney’s Office and all other parties 

associated with this case by electronic mail as follows: 

CLARK COUNTY DISTRICT ATTORNEY 
motions@clarkcountyda.com 
pdmotions@clarkcountyda.com 

By:    /s/ Tyler G. Perry 
An employee of Christopher R. Oram, Esq. 
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 Michael Ehline, Esq. 

(Texas SBN: 24130824; California SBN 236202)  
612 El Loro Rd  
Las Vegas, Nevada 89138  

Your Honor, 

I am writing to provide a character reference and to express my support for Jose (Chille) 
DeCastro, who is currently in custody pending appeal. As a California lawyer, I have had the 
privilege of knowing Chille personally and professionally, and I can attest to his outstanding 
character, integrity, and contributions to our community. I am presently grooming Mr. DeCastro 
for acceptance into the California State Bar Law Office Study Program. I have known Mr. 
DeCastro for approximately one year.  

My observations are that Chille DeCastro is a dedicated individual who has always demonstrated 
a strong commitment to upholding the law and serving the community. In his work with me, he 
has exhibited professionalism, diligence, and a genuine passion for justice. His unwavering 
dedication to his work and his ethical conduct make him an exemplary member of our society.  
I firmly believe that Chille DeCastro is not a flight risk and poses no danger to the community. 
He has deep roots in the community and strong ties to his family and friends, who are supportive 
of him during this challenging time.  

It is in the interest of justice to allow him to be released from custody pending the outcome of his 
appeal. Granting him bail would enable him to continue working with his legal team to prepare 
his case effectively while also allowing him to support his family and contribute positively to 
society.  

I respectfully urge the Nevada Courts to consider Chille DeCastro's character, contributions, and 
the merits of his case when deciding on his bail application. I am confident that he will continue 
to uphold the law and abide by any conditions imposed by the court if granted bail.  

Thank you for considering my letter in support of Chille DeCastro. Please do not hesitate to 
contact me if you require any further information.  

Sincerely, 

Michael Ehline, Esq. 
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To Your Honor, 
 
  I am writing this letter to share my experience and relationship with a defendant Jose 
(J.D.) DeCastro, currently in Clack County Jail.  
    

 We are neighbors in business, and I have enjoyed sharing space and conversations with 
JD. It is my opinion; he is the furthest thing from a person who should be in jail. He is not a 
violent man, and he has proven to be very responsible to his obligations. His job as an online 
creator can come across as abrasive and confrontational, but his personal side is charming and 
agreeable.  
     

One time, after a rolling cart was stolen from my business frontal area, JD express 
shipped an Amazon replacement cart to me, knowing it would be a thoughtful and valuable gift, 
never once asking for reciprocation. We have become friends over the last year plus and his 
behavior has always been kind, cheerful and empathetic.  
     

Incarnation serves no purpose here other than to take a productive member of our 
community away. Please reconsider your decision with Jose DeCastro. 
      
     Thank you for reading this letter. 
 
Steve Berg, 
 
Owner, 
Vegas Homebrew  
5140 W. Charleston Blvd. 
LV, NV 89146 
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FROM: DICK HELLER  
Supreme Court Case 
D.C vs. HELLER  
Washington, DC  

 
 
~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~ 

 

If it may please The Court;  

I am a retired police officer having worked both on the street and for the Federal Bureau of Prisons 
in Washington, DC.  

With my background of advocating in court for civil rights, it certainly would not be in my 
professional best interest to associate with or much less link up and to work with someone that 
condoned violence in any way. As such, DeCastro has no criminal record, no convictions, and is a 
non-violent productive man. 

Mr. DeCastro has a clean record, first time offender, and no convictions. For the above reasons, I 
pray the court will provide him with a reasonable bail.  

Most sincerely,  

/S/ Dick Heller 
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Your Honor, 

Jose DeCastro is a grounded citizen here in Las Vegas, please let him out. 

He's an upstanding citizen of the community. I've known him for over 25 years, and he's been a 
great friend to all around him and never one to hurt a person. 

Gene Samuel 
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Your Honor, 
 
I am writing this letter to express concern and worry for my tenant and friend 
Jose. I own My Charleston Plaza and Jose (we call him JD) has been a tenant 
there for over a year and a half. Over that time I have become good friends with 
JD and even allowed him to have keys to my building. He is the type of person 
you feel like you’ve known forever after a few weeks of knowing him. 
 
When JD told me he was in jail I thought he was joking! JD is such a nice, 
calm, and level headed person. He’s an ideal tenant and I wish all of mine with 
like him! He pays on time, comes to me directly with any issues he has in a 
constructive way, and always does things with a smile on his face. 
 
It’s preposterous that he is in jail - a man like him should not be in a place like 
that. I can vouch for his character and hope to see him released as soon as 
possible. 
 
Thank you,  
 
David A. Levy 
702-355-5102 
Have A Nice GREEN Day® 
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To whom it may concern: 

My name is Tierra, I am the niece of Jose DeCastro, and I live in Las Vegas with my husband 
and four kids. 

I have lived in Las Vegas almost my entire life, as Jose DeCastro moved my family, my mother 
(his sister) and two brothers, out here when I was a toddler. 

Jose is a pillar in our lives. He takes part in my children’s extracurriculars, such as competitive 
youth wrestling, and is present in our day to day lives. 

He is an upstanding family member to me and my children and adds value being in our lives. 

Thank you 

Tierra 
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NOA 
CHRISTOPHER R. ORAM, ESQ. 
Nevada Bar No. 4349 
520 S. Fourth Street, Second Floor 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89101 
Telephone: (702) 384-5563 
contact@christopheroramlaw.com  
Attorney for Jose DeCastro  

DISTRICT COURT 
CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA 

JOSE DECASTRO,  

Appellant, 
vs. 

STATE OF NEVADA, 

Respondent. 

) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
)
)

     CASE NO.: C-24-381730-A 

     DEPT: XII 

)

NOTICE OF APPEARANCE OF COUNSEL 

 TO: STATE OF NEVADA, Plaintiff; and 

  TO: COUNTY DISTRICT ATTORNEY’S OFFICE, Counsel for Respondent: 

Appellant, JOSE DECASTRO, by and through counsel, hereby gives notice that 

CHRISTOPHER R. ORAM, ESQ., of THE LAW OFFICE OF CHRISTOPHER ORAM, is 

appearing as counsel for Mr. DeCastro. 

This Notice is necessary because Counsel was retained as counsel in the above-

mentioned case, and Counsel wishes to appear on behalf of Mr. DeCastro. 

Dated this 4th day of April 2024.  /s/ Christopher R. Oram 

Christopher R. Oram, Esq. 
Nevada Bar No. 4349 
520 S. Fourth Street, Second Floor 
Las Vegas, NV 89101 
Attorney for Jose DeCastro 

Case Number: C-24-381730-A

Electronically Filed
4/4/2024 3:23 PM
Steven D. Grierson
CLERK OF THE COURT
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

I hereby certify that on this 4th day of April 2024, I served a true and correct copy of the 

foregoing document entitled NOTICE OF APPEARANCE OF COUNSEL to the Clark County 

District Attorney’s Office and all other parties associated with this case by electronic mail as 

follows: 

CLARK COUNTY DISTRICT ATTORNEY 
motions@clarkcountyda.com 
pdmotions@clarkcountyda.com 

By:    /s/ Tyler G. Perry 
An employee of Christopher R. Oram, Esq. 
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DISTRICT COURT 

CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA 

**** 

Jose Decastro, Appellant(s) 

vs 

State of Nevada, Respondent(s) 

Case No.: C-24-381730-A 

Department 12 

NOTICE OF HEARING 

     Please be advised that the Defendant's Motion for Bail, or in the Alternative, for Own 

Recognizance Release in the above-entitled matter is set for hearing as follows:  

Date: April 10, 2024 

Time: 9:00 AM 

Location: RJC Courtroom 14D 

Regional Justice Center 

200 Lewis Ave. 

Las Vegas, NV 89101 

NOTE: Under NEFCR 9(d), if a party is not receiving electronic service through the 

Eighth Judicial District Court Electronic Filing System, the movant requesting a 

hearing must serve this notice on the party by traditional means. 

 

STEVEN D. GRIERSON, CEO/Clerk of the Court 

By: /s/ Marie Kramer 

Deputy Clerk of the Court 

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

I hereby certify that pursuant to Rule 9(b) of the Nevada Electronic Filing and Conversion 

Rules a copy of this Notice of Hearing was electronically served to all registered users on 

this case in the Eighth Judicial District Court Electronic Filing System. 

By: /s/ Marie Kramer 

Deputy Clerk of the Court 
 

 

Case Number: C-24-381730-A

Electronically Filed
4/4/2024 4:36 PM
Steven D. Grierson
CLERK OF THE COURT

0126



DISTRICT COURT
CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA

C-24-381730-A

Criminal Appeal April 09, 2024COURT MINUTES

C-24-381730-A Jose Decastro, Appellant(s)
vs
State of Nevada, Respondent(s)

April 09, 2024 12:29 PM Minute Order

HEARD BY: 

COURT CLERK:

COURTROOM: Leavitt, Michelle

Villatoro, Reina

Chambers

JOURNAL ENTRIES

The court having reviewed the Motion for Bail or in the Alternative for Own Recognizance 
Release, does hereby deny Apellants request for bail.  The hearing scheduled for April 10, 
2024 is vacated.   

PARTIES PRESENT:

RECORDER:

REPORTER:

Department 12

Page 1 of 1Printed Date: 4/10/2024 April 09, 2024Minutes Date:

Prepared by: Reina Esparza
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